










Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2018/19Balances through January

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund   

1100 230,761.00 333,567.00 123,793.50 216,050.60 6,277.10-Teachers Salaries

1115 250.00 60.00 190.00 Certificated Extra Duty

1120 75,787.00 13,950.00 7,392.50 6,557.50 Certificated Substitutes

1200 43,846.00 43,846.00 18,269.15 25,576.81 .04 Certificated Pupil Support Ser

1300 199,167.00 199,167.00 100,005.60 140,007.84 40,846.44-Certificated Supervisor Admini

1310 10,000.00 10,000.00 1,000.00 9,000.00 Teacher in Charge

Total for Object 1000 559,561.00 600,780.00 242,068.25 390,087.75 31,376.00-

2100 120,916.00 126,442.00 61,779.74 56,179.30 8,482.96 Instructional Aides' Salaries

2115 588.00 688.00 792.45 104.45-Classified Extra Duty

2120 8,000.00 8,000.00 4,871.71 3,128.29 Classified Substitutes

2200 28,844.00 20,569.00 5,467.65 9,420.31 5,681.04 Classified Support Salaries

2215 1,000.00 771.78 228.22 Classified Support Extra Duty

2300 95,174.00 95,107.00 39,280.00 55,307.00 520.00 Classified Supervisors' Admini

2400 144,227.00 144,227.00 49,500.02 82,603.55 12,123.43 Clerical Technical Office Staf

2420 250.00 250.00 250.00 Clerical Substiture

2900 16,448.00 16,448.00 1,752.50 14,695.50 Other Classified Salaries

Total for Object 2000 414,447.00 412,731.00 156,027.41 211,698.60 45,004.99 

3101 114,331.00 109,039.00 39,042.40 48,812.99 21,183.61 STRS Certificated Positions

3102 749.00 749.00 374.60 512.54 138.14-STRS Classified Positions

3201 21.67 21.67-PERS Certificated Positions

3202 73,152.00 74,322.00 27,144.25 38,949.12 8,228.63 PERS Classified Positions

3301 155.00 22.32 22.32-OASDI Certificated Positions

3302 23,803.00 23,694.00 8,796.52 12,154.50 2,742.98 OASDI Classified Positions

3311 7,488.00 8,279.00 3,310.15 5,424.57 455.72-Medicare Certificated Position

3312 5,884.00 5,859.00 2,220.03 3,009.07 629.90 Medicare Classified Positions

3401 111,502.00 129,036.00 51,299.65 60,198.35 17,538.00 Health & Welfare Benefits Cert

3402 124,277.00 124,363.00 46,763.00 65,099.58 12,500.42 Health & Welfare Benefits Clas

3501 277.00 300.00 121.05 195.66 16.71-SUI Certificated

3502 209.00 208.00 78.09 104.94 24.97 SUI Classified

3601 19,974.00 16,494.00 7,642.25 9,678.30 826.55-Workers' Compensation Certific

3602 15,100.00 13,738.00 5,125.44 6,946.90 1,665.66 Workers' Compensation Classifi

3902 1,524.00 1,524.00-Golden Handshake-Class

Total for Object 3000 496,901.00 506,081.00 191,917.43 252,654.51 61,509.06 

4100 672.00 892.00 892.00 Approved Textbooks Core Curric

4200 1,000.00 .00 Library and Reference Material

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2019, Period = 7, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 1 of 3

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  5 2019  8:32AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2215
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2420
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3102
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3201
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3301
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3302
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3311
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3402
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3902
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4200


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2018/19Balances through January

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund    (continued)

4300 71,970.00 81,574.00 1,864.09 16,083.96 63,625.95 Materials and Supplies

4320 600.00 600.00 600.00 Custodial Grounds Supplies

4330 1,000.00 1,000.00 578.03 421.97 Office Supplies

4350 5,500.00 5,500.00 1,256.89 341.04 3,902.07 Vehicle Upkeep

4400 23,311.00 23,811.00 1,635.08 22,175.92 Noncapitalized Equipment

Total for Object 4000 104,053.00 113,377.00 3,120.98 18,638.11 91,617.91 

5100 43,000.00 43,000.00 30,080.00 4,140.00 8,780.00 Subagreements for Services

5200 44,755.00 42,755.00 6,449.34 16,308.04 19,997.62 Travel and Conference

5300 19,631.00 20,163.00 780.65 12,259.99 7,122.36 Dues and Membership

5400 9,600.00 11,000.00 9,434.00 1,566.00 Insurance

5500 9,200.00 9,200.00 4,259.18 2,214.06 2,726.76 Operation Housekeeping Service

5600 3,100.00 3,100.00 374.96 775.94 1,949.10 Rentals, Leases, Repairs, Nonc

5801 20,500.00 23,000.00 12,417.50 10,582.50 Legal Services

5803 500.00 500.00 500.00 Legal Publications

5805 793.00 842.00 200.00 642.00 Personnel Expense

5806 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 Negotiations

5808 1,500.00 1,500.00 819.63 680.37 .00 Other Services & Fees

5810 457,092.00 412,063.00 184,121.95 161,094.27 66,846.78 Contracted Services

5899 2,776.68 923.89 3,700.57-SPJUSD to Reimburse

5900 5,200.00 9,450.00 3,904.72 5,839.67 294.39-Communications

Total for Object 5000 615,871.00 577,573.00 233,767.11 226,087.73 117,718.16 

6170 290,000.00 293,000.00 286,844.25 6,155.75 LAND IMPROVEMENTS

6200 7,664.00 22,664.00 22,664.00 Building and Improvement of Bu

6400 20,000.00 20,000.00 20,000.00 Equipment

Total for Object 6000 317,664.00 335,664.00 .00 286,844.25 48,819.75 

7110 3,119.00 3,119.00-County Tuition Inter Dist Agre

7141 24,428.00 24,428.00 24,428.00 Tuition, excess cost etc betwe

7310 .00 Direct Support/Indirect Costs

Total for Object 7000 24,428.00 24,428.00 .00 3,119.00 21,309.00 

354,602.87 2,532,925.00 2,570,634.00 826,901.18 1,389,129.95 Total for Fund 01 and Expense accounts

Fund 11 - ADULT ED   

1300 80,950.00 80,950.00 Certificated Supervisor Admini

3101 13,179.00 13,179.00 STRS Certificated Positions

3311 1,174.00 1,174.00 Medicare Certificated Position

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2019, Period = 7, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 2 of 3

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  5 2019  8:32AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4320
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4330
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4350
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5801
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5803
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5805
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5806
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5808
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5899
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6170
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7110
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7141
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3311


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2018/19Balances through January

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 11 - ADULT ED    (continued)

3401 17,537.00 17,537.00 Health & Welfare Benefits Cert

3501 40.00 40.00 SUI Certificated

3601 2,710.00 2,710.00 Workers' Compensation Certific

Total for Object 3000 .00 34,640.00 .00 .00 34,640.00 

4300 5,000.00 607.53 4,392.47 Materials and Supplies

4400 2,685.00 3,624.84 939.84-Noncapitalized Equipment

Total for Object 4000 .00 7,685.00 4,232.37 .00 3,452.63 

5200 450.00 362.73 812.73-Travel and Conference

5810 45,000.00 7,350.00 37,650.00 Contracted Services

Total for Object 5000 .00 45,000.00 7,800.00 362.73 36,837.27 

6400 30,000.00 30,000.00 Equipment

7619 1,725.00 1,725.00 Other Authorized Interfund Tra

187,604.90 .00 200,000.00 12,032.37 362.73 Total for Fund 11 and Expense accounts

Fund 16 - FOREST RES   

7619 52,121.00 52,121.00 52,121.00 Other Authorized Interfund Tra

52,121.00 52,121.00 52,121.00 .00 .00 Total for Fund 16, Expense accounts and Object 7000

594,328.77 2,585,046.00 2,822,755.00 838,933.55 1,389,492.68 Total for Org 001 - Sierra County Office of Education

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2019, Period = 7, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 3 of 3

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  5 2019  8:32AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=6400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=7619
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=108127&p2=1&p3=16&p8=Fund&p7=7619


1 

SCOE Minutes 

January 8, 2019 

MINUTES FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 

SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 

January 8, 2019 

Sierra County Office of Education, 109 Beckwith Rd., Loyalton, CA 96118 
Videoconferenced to Downieville School, 130 School St, Downieville CA 95936 

5:00pm Closed Session 

6:00pm Regular Session 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

President PATTY HALL called the meeting to order at 5:04pm. 

B. ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Patty Hall, President 

  Allen Wright, Vice President 

  Andy Genasci, Clerk 

  Mike Moore, Member 

  Jenny Gant, Member 

 

ABSENT: None 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

MOORE/GANT 

GRANT: Will need to remove L, 2, b 

5/0 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION 

1. Current location – none 

2. Videoconference location – none 

E. CLOSED SESSION 

MOORE/GENASCI 

5/0 

The Board of Trustees, Superintendent Dr. Merrill Grant and Business Manager Nona Griesert 

moved into Closed Session at 5:05pm to discuss the following item(s): 

1. Government Code 54957.6 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency Negotiator for the Board: Dr. Merrill M. Grant, Superintendent 

Employee Organizations: 

 Represented Employees:  Sierra-Plumas Teachers’ Association 

 Unrepresented Employees:  Classified Employees 

     Confidential Employees 

     Administrative Employees 

F. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION at 5:55pm and ADJOURN FOR BREAK 

G. 6:01PM – RECONVENE 

H. FLAG SALUTE 

I. REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

MOORE: No action—only discussed different parameters of current negotiations. 

 



2 

SCOE Minutes 

January 8, 2019 

J. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Superintendent’s Report 

a. Offer of Employment to Laraine Sei, Personnel Technician, 1.0 FTE,  effective 

December 18, 2018 

b. Accept letter of resignation from Miranda Jacobsen, Instructional Aide, 

Loyalton Elementary, .82 FTE, effective December 21, 2018 

c. Accept letter of resignation from Angela Kilmurray, Instructional Aide, 

Loyalton Elementary, .833 FTE, effective January 30, 2019 

d. Downieville Facilities Inspection Tool—These FIT reports will play into our 

deferred maintenance plan that we will start developing in the spring. 

e. Update on Adult Education Program—We have received the funds—$200K; 

Interviewing for Coordinator 1/23/19 

 

2. Business Report 

a. Account Object Summary-Balance from 07/01/18 to 12/31/2018 

 

3. Staff Reports 

a. MESCHERY—Curriculum: Coming off of winter break not much to report 

right now, but gearing up and excited for this semester and the Teacher 

Development work to come. 

b. BETHKE—SELPA: Report on Special Ed case numbers across district. 

 

4. Board Member Reports 

None 

5. Public Comment 

a. Current location –  

MESCHERY: Sierra Schools Foundation—Recently held Winter Grant 

Funding session where we approved/granted each request that came to SSF this 

year for field trips and various programs. Newsletter went out in the mail 

recently. Final draft of brochures are printed for distribution to promote Sierra 

County—hand out throughout community, at job fairs…  

b. Videoconference location – none 

 

K. CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Board Meeting held December 11, 2018 

2. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 12/01/2018 through 12/31/2018 

3. Approval of Quarterly Report on Williams Uniform Complaints for quarter ending 

12/31/2018.  It is required per Education Code 35186 section (d) that a school district 

shall report summarized data on the nature and resolution of all complaints on a 

quarterly basis to the county superintendent of schools and the governing board of the 

school district. No complaints regarding textbooks and instructional materials, teacher 

vacancy or misassignment or conditions of facilities were filed with Sierra County Office 

of Education during the quarter ending 12/31/2018. 

MOORE/GANT 

5/0 

 

 



3 

SCOE Minutes 

January 8, 2019 

L. ACTION ITEMS 

1. Old Business 

a. Hat Creek Change Order for Paving Project 

MOORE motioned to pay Hat Creek Change Order Invoice as long as 

supporting documentation from the Project Manager is included in our 

backup/file to explain work done without Board approval of added 

expenditure. Second by GANT. 

5/0 

2. New Business  

a. Resolution 19-004C, Establish New Adult Education Fund 

MOORE/WRIGHT 

GRIESERT: This resolution is required to establish a separate fund for tracking 

the Adult Education funds/expenditures through the life of the program(s). 

ROLL CALL VOTE: 

HALL – Aye 

WRIGHT – Aye 

GENASCI – Aye 

MOORE – Aye 

GANT – Aye 

5/0 

 

b. Acceptance of Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Audited Actuals—move to next month, 

audit report not yet available 

BOARD POLICIES AND ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS 

c. Board Policy 0420—School Plans/Site Councils, revisions 

d. Administrative Regulation 0420—School Plans/Site Councils, revisions 

e. Board Policy 0450—Comprehensive Safety Plan, Choose Option 1 or 2 

f. Administrative Regulation 0450—Comprehensive Safety Plan, revisions 

g. Board Policy 0460—Local Control Accountability Plan, revisions 

h. Administrative Regulation 0460—Local Control Accountability Plan, revisions 

i. Administrative Regulation 1220—Citizen Advisory Committees, revisions 

j. Administrative Regulation 4200—Classified Personnel, Choose Option 1 or 2 

k. Board Bylaw 9322—Agenda/Meeting Materials, revisions 

l. Board Bylaw 9324—Minutes and Recordings, revisions 

m. Exhibit 4119.23/4219.23/4319.23 —Unauthorized Release of 

Confidential/Privileged Information, revisions 

MOORE motioned to approve all policies as written except for BP 0450 with 

Option 1 chosen. Second by GANT. 

5/0 

 

M. ADVANCED PLANNING 

1. Next Regular Board Meeting will be held on February 12, 2019 at Downieville School, 

130 School St, Downieville CA 95936 beginning with Closed Session, as needed, at 

5:00pm and the Regular Board Meeting at 6:00pm. 

 

 

 



4 

SCOE Minutes 

January 8, 2019 

2. Suggested Agenda Items 

a. Technology task force 

b. Tactical plan meeting in closed session with Sheriff/law enforcement 

 

N. ADJOURN at 6:49pm 

GENASCI/WRIGHT 

5/0 

 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 

Andy J. Genasci, Clerk    Dr. Merrill M. Grant, Superintendent 



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 01/01/2019 through 01/31/2019

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00015111 01/10/2019 CIT 01-5900 PHONE SYSTEM/MAINTENANCE 773.08 

00015112 01/10/2019 HEIDI BETHKE 01-5200 SELPA/MENTAL HEALTH MEETINGS 242.37 

00015113 01/10/2019 KATIE CAMPBELL 01-4300 CRAFT SUPPLIES 91.95 

00015114 01/10/2019 CARRIER SI, INC. 01-5600 REMOTE SERVICE 270.00 

00015115 01/10/2019 CARS+ - THE ORGANIZATION FOR SPECIAL 

EDUCATORS

01-5200 REGISTRATION 399.00 

00015116 01/10/2019 DOUBLETREE HOTEL 01-5200 HOTEL 287.00 

00015117 01/10/2019 KATHLEEN EPPS 01-5200 NOV/DEC MILEAGE 1,079.10 

00015118 01/10/2019 ANDY GENASCI 01-5200 PER DIEM 24.53 

00015119 01/10/2019 GIRARD, EDWARDS, STEVENS & TUCKER LLP 01-5801 LEGAL FEES 82.50 

00015120 01/10/2019 MERRILL GRANT 11-5200 ADULT ED TRAVEL 362.73 

00015121 01/10/2019 JANIS HARDEMAN 01-5810 NURSE SERVICES 1,750.00 

00015122 01/10/2019 HOUGHTON MIFFLIN HARCOURT PUBLISHING CO. 01-4300 ACHIEVEMENT STANDARD FORMS 227.10 

00015123 01/10/2019 JANE V. LEE, M.A., LMFT 01-5810 COUNSELING SERVICES 990.00 

00015124 01/10/2019 LIBERTY UTILITIES CPEC 01-5500 ELECTRICAL SERVICE 199.26 

00015125 01/10/2019 MARY LOWE 01-5810 COUNSELING SERVICES 2,280.00 

00015126 01/10/2019 BARBARA MCKURTIS 01-5100 CONTRACTED CONSULTANT 

AGREEMENT

4,140.00 

01-5810 CONTRACTED CONSULTANT 

AGREEMENT

90.00 4,230.00 

00015127 01/10/2019 MIKE MOORE 01-5200 PER DIEM 27.25 

00015128 01/10/2019 NEVADA COUNTY SUPT OF SCHOOLS ACCOUNTS 

RECEIVABLE

01-5200 EXCESS TRANSPORTATION SEPT 827.83 

00015129 01/10/2019 NORTHEASTERN JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 76-9571 WORKER'S COMPENSATION 8,104.50 

00015130 01/10/2019 PITNEY BOWES, INC. 01-5600 POSTAGE MACHINE LEASE 50.63 

01-5899 POSTAGE MACHINE LEASE 151.92 202.55 

00015131 01/10/2019 RAY MORGAN COMPANY 01-5600 COPIER MAINT. 13.56 

00015132 01/10/2019 SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5808 BANK SERVICE FEES 96.70 

00015133 01/10/2019 SIERRA VALLEY HOME CENTER 01-4300 SHOP SUPPLIES 187.51 

00015134 01/10/2019 SINGLETON AUMAN PC 01-5810 AUDIT FEES 3,500.00 

00015135 01/10/2019 TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS INSURANCE GROUP 01-3902 JAN 19 HEALTH INSURANCE 1,524.00 

01-9535 JAN 19 HEALTH INSURANCE 2,159.00 

76-9576 JAN 19 HEALTH INSURANCE 19,688.90 23,371.90 

00015136 01/10/2019 VOYAGER 01-5200 FUEL EXPENSE 119.96 

01-5899 FUEL EXPENSE 20.54 140.50 

00015137 01/10/2019 ALLEN WRIGHT 01-5200 PER DIEM 85.84 

00015138 01/22/2019 EASY WAY SAFETY SERVICES, INC. 01-4300 SAFETY HARNESS 243.00 

00015139 01/22/2019 HAT CREEK CONSTRUCTION & MATERIALS, INC. 01-6170 AC PAVING 21,375.00 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 1 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  5 2019  8:34AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 01/01/2019 through 01/31/2019

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00015140 01/22/2019 HOLIDAY INN SACRAMENTO RANCHO CORDOVA 01-5200 HOTEL ACCOMODATIONS 83.35 

01-5899 HOTEL ACCOMODATIONS 250.03 333.38 

00015141 01/22/2019 LESLIE MARSDEN, MOT, OTR/L 01-5810 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY SERVICES 3,765.00 

00015142 01/22/2019 NEVADA COUNTY SUPT OF SCHOOLS ACCOUNTS 

RECEIVABLE

01-5200 EXCESS TRANSPORTATION OCT 795.06 

00015143 01/22/2019 SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5808 BANK SERVICE FEES 15.00 

00015144 01/22/2019 U.S. BANK 01-4300 CLASSROOM SUPPLIES 88.53 

CRAFT SUPPLIES 100.81 

01-4330 ADOBE SUBSCRIPTION 179.88 

01-5200 SUPT. TRAVEL EXPENSES 288.33 

01-5899 SUPT. TRAVEL EXPENSES 128.15 

01-9200 DEPOSIT 593.75 1,379.45 

Total Number of Checks 34 77,752.65 

Fund Summary

Fund Description Check Count Expensed Amount

County School Service Fund 32 49,596.52 01

ADULT EDUCATION 1 362.73 11

Payroll Clearing 2 27,793.40 76

Net (Check Amount)

Less Unpaid Sales Tax Liability

Total Number of Checks 34 77,752.65 

.00 

77,752.65 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 2 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  5 2019  8:34AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



















































 

2017-18 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Special Education    Page 1 of 8 

 

 

Sierra County Special Education 

School Accountability Report Card 

Reported Using Data from the 2017-18 School Year 

Published During 2018-19 

 

 
By February 1 of each year, every school in California is required by state law to publish a School Accountability Report Card (SARC). 
The SARC contains information about the condition and performance of each California public school. Under the Local Control Funding 
Formula (LCFF) all local educational agencies (LEAs) are required to prepare a Local Control and Accountability Plan (LCAP), which 
describes how they intend to meet annual school-specific goals for all pupils, with specific activities to address state and local priorities. 
Additionally, data reported in an LCAP is to be consistent with data reported in the SARC. 
 
• For more information about SARC requirements, see the California Department of Education (CDE) SARC Web page at 

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/.  
 
• For more information about the LCFF or LCAP, see the CDE LCFF Web page at http://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/.  
 
• For additional information about the school, parents/guardians and community members should contact the school principal or 

the district office. 
 
DataQuest 
DataQuest is an online data tool located on the CDE DataQuest Web page at http://dq.cde.ca.gov/dataquest/ that contains additional 
information about this school and comparisons of the school to the district and the county. Specifically, DataQuest is a dynamic system 
that provides reports for accountability (e.g., test data, enrollment, high school graduates, dropouts, course enrollments, staffing, and 
data regarding English learners). 
 
Internet Access 
Internet access is available at public libraries and other locations that are publicly accessible (e.g., the California State Library). Access 
to the Internet at libraries and public locations is generally provided on a first-come, first-served basis. Other use restrictions may 
include the hours of operation, the length of time that a workstation may be used (depending on availability), the types of software 
programs available on a workstation, and the ability to print documents. 
 

About This School 
 
Contact Information (School Year 2018-19) 

School Contact Information 

School Name------- Sierra County Special Education 

Street------- 109 Beckwith Street 

City, State, Zip------- Loyalton, CA  96118 

Phone Number------- 530-993-1660 

Principal------- Heidi Bethke 

E-mail Address------- hbethke@spjusd.org 

Web Site------- www.sierracountyofficeofeducation.org 

CDS Code 46104626077267 

 

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/
http://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/
http://dq.cde.ca.gov/dataquest/


 

2017-18 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Special Education    Page 2 of 8 

District Contact Information 

District Name------- Sierra County Office of Education 

Phone Number------- 530-993-1660 

Superintendent------
- 

Dr. Merrill M. Grant 

E-mail Address------- mgrant@spjusd.org 

Web Site------- www.sierracountyofficeofeducation.org 

 
 
School Description and Mission Statement (School Year 2018-19) 

 
Our mission is to provide a primary education with a goal of all children achieving literacy.  We provide children with the tools to 
encourage their total development, enhance their self-esteem and realize their potential in a safe, secure environment. 
 
Sierra County Office of Education Special Education serves Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District students.  Please see individual 
Sierra-Plumas school sites' School Accountability Report Card for more detail. 
 
Sierra County Office of Education students include students who attend school in the State of Nevada and are reported as out-of-state 
students.  Therefore, no data is reflected for those students in this report. 
 
Sierra County Special Education student population is fewer than 10, therefore no data is reflected for those students in this report. 
Students attending Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District are listed under the enrollment of their respective schools. 
 
 

A. Conditions of Learning 

 

State Priority: Basic 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Basic (Priority 1): 
• Degree to which teachers are appropriately assigned and fully credentialed in the subject area and for the pupils they are teaching; 
• Pupils have access to standards-aligned instructional materials; and 
• School facilities are maintained in good repair. 
 
Teacher Credentials 

Teachers 
School District 

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2018-19 

With Full Credential 2.4 4   

Without Full Credential 0 0   

Teaching Outside Subject Area of Competence (with full credential) 0 0   

 
Teacher Misassignments and Vacant Teacher Positions 

Indicator 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 

Misassignments of Teachers of English Learners  0 0  

Total Teacher Misassignments * 0 0  

Vacant Teacher Positions 0 0  
Note: “Misassignments” refers to the number of positions filled by teachers who lack legal authorization to teach that grade level, subject area, student group, etc.  
 
* Total Teacher Misassignments includes the number of Misassignments of Teachers of English Learners. 
 
Quality, Currency, Availability of Textbooks and Instructional Materials (School Year 2018-19) 
 
Year and month in which data were collected: N/A 
 
Students use textbooks issued by their school of enrollment.  See individual school site sections on Textbooks. 
 



 

2017-18 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Special Education    Page 3 of 8 

Subject 
Textbooks and Instructional Materials/ 

Year of Adoption 

From 
Most Recent 

Adoption? 

Percent of Students 
Lacking Own 

Assigned Copy 

Reading/Language Arts          n/a 

Mathematics          n/a 

Science          n/a 

History-Social Science          n/a 

Foreign Language          n/a 

Health          n/a 

Visual and Performing Arts          n/a 

Science Laboratory Equipment 
(grades 9-12) 

         n/a 

 
 
 
School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements (Most Recent Year) 

 
To determine the condition of our facilities, our district performs an annual inspection using the Facilities Inspection Tool which is 
issued by the Office of Public School Construction. 
Based on that survey we've answered the questions you see on this report. Please note that the information reflects the condition of 
our building as of the date of the report.  Since that time, those conditions may have changed. 
 
 
School Facility Good Repair Status (Most Recent Year) 
Using the most recently collected FIT data (or equivalent), provide the following: 

• Determination of repair status for systems listed 
• Description of any needed maintenance to ensure good repair 
• The year and month in which the data were collected 
• The overall rating 
 

School Facility Good Repair Status (Most Recent Year) 
Year and month of the most recent FIT report: November 2018 

System Inspected Repair Status 
Repair Needed and 

Action Taken or Planned 

Systems: Gas Leaks, Mechanical/HVAC, 
Sewer  

XGood        
 

 

Interior: Interior Surfaces XGood        
 

 

Cleanliness: Overall Cleanliness, Pest/ 
Vermin Infestation 

XGood        
 

 

Electrical: Electrical XGood        
 

 

Restrooms/Fountains: Restrooms, Sinks/ 
Fountains 

XGood        
 

 

Safety: Fire Safety, Hazardous Materials XGood        
 

 

Structural: Structural Damage, Roofs XGood        
 

 

External: Playground/School Grounds, 
Windows/ Doors/Gates/Fences 

XGood        
 

 

 



 

2017-18 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Special Education    Page 4 of 8 

Overall Facility Rating (Most Recent Year) 

Year and month of the most recent FIT report: November 2018 

Overall Rating X Exemplary        
 

 
 

B. Pupil Outcomes 

 

State Priority: Pupil Achievement 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Pupil Achievement (Priority 4): 
• Statewide assessments (i.e., California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress [CAASPP] System, which includes the 

Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments for students in the general education population and the California Alternate 
Assessments [CAAs] for English language arts/literacy [ELA] and mathematics given in grades three through eight and grade 
eleven. Only eligible students may participate in the administration of the CAAs. CAAs items are aligned with alternate 
achievement standards, which are linked with the Common Core State Standards [CCSS] for students with the most significant 
cognitive disabilities); and 

• The percentage of students who have successfully completed courses that satisfy the requirements for entrance to the University 
of California and the California State University, or career technical education sequences or programs of study. 

 
CAASPP Test Results in English Language Arts/Literacy (ELA) and Mathematics for All Students 
Grades Three through Eight and Grade Eleven 

Subject 

Percent of Students Meeting or Exceeding the State Standards 
(grades 3-8 and 11) 

School District State 

2016-17 2017-18 2016-17 2017-18 2016-17 2017-18 

English Language Arts/Literacy 
(grades 3-8 and 11) 

      

Mathematics  
(grades 3-8 and 11) 

      

Note: Percentages are not calculated when the number of students tested is ten or less, either because the number of students in this category is too small for statistical 
accuracy or to protect student privacy. 
 
Note: ELA and mathematics test results include the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment and the CAA. The “Percent Met or Exceeded” is calculated by taking the 
total number of students who met or exceeded the standard on the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment plus the total number of students who met the standard 
(i.e., achieved Level 3–Alternate) on the CAAs divided by the total number of students who participated in both assessments. 

 
CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group 
Grades Three through Eight and Grade Eleven (School Year 2017-18) 

Student Group 
Total  

Enrollment 
Number  
Tested 

Percent  
Tested 

Percent  
Met or Exceeded 

All Students     
Note: ELA test results include the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment and the CAA.  The “Percent Met or Exceeded” is calculated by taking the total number of 
students who met or exceeded the standard on the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment plus the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., achieved 
Level 3–Alternate) on the CAAs divided by the total number of students who participated in both assessments. 
 
Note: Double dashes (--) appear in the table when the number of students is ten or less, either because the number of students in this category is too small for statistical 
accuracy or to protect student privacy. 
 
Note: The number of students tested includes all students who participated in the test whether they received a score or not; however, the number of students tested 
is not the number that was used to calculate the achievement level percentages. The achievement level percentages are calculated using only students who received 
scores. 

 



 

2017-18 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Special Education    Page 5 of 8 

CAASPP Test Results in Mathematics by Student Group 
Grades Three through Eight and Grade Eleven (School Year 2017-18) 

Student Group 
Total  

Enrollment 
Number  
Tested 

Percent  
Tested 

Percent  
Met or Exceeded 

All Students     
Note: Mathematics test results include the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment and the CAA. The “Percent Met or Exceeded” is calculated by taking the total 
number of students who met or exceeded the standard on the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment plus the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., 
achieved Level 3–Alternate) on the CAAs divided by the total number of students who participated in both assessments. 

 
Note: Double dashes (--) appear in the table when the number of students is ten or less, either because the number of students in this category is too small for statistical 
accuracy or to protect student privacy. 

 
Note: The number of students tested includes all students who participated in the test whether they received a score or not; however, the number of students tested 
is not the number that was used to calculate the achievement level percentages. The achievement level percentages are calculated using only students who received 
scores. 

CAASPP Test Results in Science for All Students 
Grades Five, Eight, and Ten 

Subject 

Percentage of Students Meeting or Exceeding the State Standard 

School District State 

2016-17 2017-18 2016-17 2017-18 2016-17 2017-18 

Science (grades 5, 8, and 10) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Note: Cells with N/A values do not require data. 
 
Note: The 2016–17 and 2017–18 data are not available. The CDE is developing a new science assessment based on the Next Generation Science Standards for California 
Public Schools (CA NGSS). The CAST was pilot-tested in spring 2017 and field-tested in spring 2018. The CAST will be administered operationally during the 2018–19 
school year. The CAA for Science was pilot-tested for two years (i.e., 2016–17 and 2017–18) and the CAA for Science will be field-tested in 2018–19. 
 
Note: Science test results include the CAST and the CAA for Science. The “Percent Met or Exceeded” is calculated by taking the total number of students who met or 
exceeded the standard on the CAST plus the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., achieved Level 3–Alternate) on the CAA for Science divided by the 
total number of students who participated on both assessments. 

 
Career Technical Education Programs (School Year 2017-18) 

 
 
 
Career Technical Education Participation (School Year 2017-18) 

Measure 
CTE Program 
Participation 

Number of pupils participating in CTE 0 

% of pupils completing a CTE program and earning a high school diploma 0 

% of CTE courses sequenced or articulated between the school and institutions of postsecondary education 0 

 
Courses for University of California (UC) and/or California State University (CSU) Admission 

UC/CSU Course Measure Percent 

2017–18 Pupils Enrolled in Courses Required for UC/CSU Admission  

2016–17 Graduates Who Completed All Courses Required for UC/CSU Admission  

 
 

State Priority: Other Pupil Outcomes 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Other Pupil Outcomes (Priority 8): 
 
• Pupil outcomes in the subject areas of physical education. 
 
 



 

2017-18 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Special Education    Page 6 of 8 

C. Engagement 

 

State Priority: Parental Involvement 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Parental Involvement (Priority 3): 
 
• Efforts the school district makes to seek parent input in making decisions for the school district and each school site. 
 
Opportunities for Parental Involvement (School Year 2018-19) 

 
Sierra County Office of Education welcomes parental involvement. This process is altered each year in accordance with student 
attendance, parent schedules and district school parent involvement activities. Parents are most involved with their children at their 
individual sites. 
 

State Priority: Pupil Engagement 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Pupil Engagement (Priority 5): 
 
• High school dropout rates; and 
• High school graduation rates. 
 
Dropout Rate and Graduation Rate (Four-Year Cohort Rate) 

Indicator 
School District State 

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

Dropout Rate          

Graduation Rate          
For the formula to calculate the 2016–17 adjusted cohort graduation rate, see the 2017–18 Data Element Definitions document located on the SARC web page at 
https://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/. 

 

State Priority: School Climate 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: School Climate (Priority 6): 
 
• Pupil suspension rates; 
• Pupil expulsion rates; and 
• Other local measures on the sense of safety. 
 
Suspensions and Expulsions 

Rate 
School District State 

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

Suspensions-------          

Expulsions-------          

 
School Safety Plan (School Year 2018-19) 

 
Sierra County Office of Education is situated in a small rural town.  Staff members remain vigilant during school breaks and before and 
after school each day.  Being very small and intimate, the staff is very familiar with all of the parents, guardians and other family 
members of the children.  The school building is situated securely between Loyalton Elementary School and the District Office Complex. 
All visitors are asked to check in at the school office, and regular school volunteers are screened.   Our Safety Plan is based on the 
National Emergency Management System and is reviewed by the Board of Education annually. The plan covers emergency action 
procedures and general crisis management for potential situations in the classroom, outside the building and while on school buses.  
The School Safety Plan is reviewed annually by the administrators and the Board of Education.   The school runs practice safety drills 
(fire, earthquake, intruder) several times a year on a surprise basis to monitor the effectiveness of each drill. This includes a week-long 
safety training for all staff and students. 
 

https://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/


 

2017-18 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Special Education    Page 7 of 8 

D. Other SARC Information 

 
The information in this section is required to be in the SARC but is not included in the state priorities for LCFF. 
 
Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Secondary) 

Subject 

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

Avg. 
Class 
Size 

Number of Classrooms Avg. 
Class 
Size 

Number of Classrooms Avg. 
Class 
Size 

Number of Classrooms 

1-22 23-32 33+ 1-22 23-32 33+ 1-22 23-32 33+ 

English------- 
---------- 

            

Mathematics 
---------- 

            

Science------- 
---------- 

            

Social Science 
---------- 

            
Note: Number of classes indicates how many classrooms fall into each size category (a range of total students per classroom). At the secondary school level, this 
information is reported by subject area rather than grade level. 

 
Academic Counselors and Other Support Staff (School Year 2017-18) 

Title 
Number of FTE 

Assigned to School 
Average Number of Students per 

Academic Counselor 

Academic Counselor------- 0 0 

Counselor (Social/Behavioral or Career Development) 0 N/A 

Library Media Teacher (Librarian) 0 N/A 

Library Media Services Staff (Paraprofessional) 0 N/A 

Psychologist------- .5 N/A 

Social Worker------- 0 N/A 

Nurse------- 1.0 N/A 

Speech/Language/Hearing Specialist 1.0 N/A 

Resource Specialist (non-teaching)------- 0 N/A 

Other------- .5 N/A 
Note: Cells with N/A values do not require data.   
 
*One Full Time Equivalent (FTE) equals one staff member working full time; one FTE could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full time. 

 
Expenditures per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries (Fiscal Year 2016-17) 

Level 

Expenditures Per Pupil Average 
Teacher 
Salary Total 

Supplemental/ 
Restricted 

Basic/ 
Unrestricted 

School Site------- n/a n/a n/a n/a 

District------- N/A N/A n/a  

Percent Difference: School Site and District N/A N/A n/a n/a 

State------- N/A N/A   

Percent Difference: School Site and State N/A N/A n/a n/a 
Note: Cells with N/A values do not require data. 
 
The California Department of Education issued guidance to LEAs on August 1, 2018, regarding how to calculate school-level per-pupil expenditures that will be 
reported on 2018-19 report cards. 

 
Types of Services Funded (Fiscal Year 2017-18) 

 
Sierra County Office of Education Special Education serves Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District students.  Please see Sierra-
Plumas individual school site's School Accountability Report Card for more detail. 
 



 

2017-18 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Special Education    Page 8 of 8 

Teacher and Administrative Salaries (Fiscal Year 2016-17) 

Category District Amount State Average for Districts In Same Category 

Beginning Teacher Salary   

Mid-Range Teacher Salary   

Highest Teacher Salary   

Average Principal Salary (Elementary)   

Average Principal Salary (Middle)   

Average Principal Salary (High)   

Superintendent Salary   

Percent of Budget for Teacher Salaries   

Percent of Budget for Administrative Salaries   
For detailed information on salaries, see the CDE Certificated Salaries & Benefits Web page at http://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/fd/cs/.  
 
Advanced Placement (AP) Courses (School Year 2017-18) 

Subject Number of AP Courses Offered* Percent of Students In AP Courses 

Computer Science  N/A 

English-------  N/A 

Fine and Performing Arts  N/A 

Foreign Language   N/A 

Mathematics  N/A 

Science-------  N/A 

Social Science  N/A 

All courses   
Cells with N/A values do not require data.   
 
*Where there are student course enrollments of at least one student. 

 
Professional Development (Most Recent Three Years) 

 
In conjunction with Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District, a Professional Learning Community (PLC) was implemented and meets 
approximately 10 afternoons throughout the school year.  The primary focus is the utilization of technology in order to increase 
student achievement. 

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/fd/cs/


Page 1 of 1 

 

CSBA POLICY GUIDE SHEET for February 2019 
 

AR 3311.1 - Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Procedures 

(AR – NEW) 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2249) which revises the threshold amounts that determine 

the process that may be used to award contracts for public works. Regulation also revised to clarify 

requirements for informal bid notifications that must be sent to contractors and/or construction journals. 

 

AR 3543 - Transportation Safety and Emergencies 

(AR revised) 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 1798) which requires that all school buses be equipped with 

passenger restraint systems by July 1, 2035. Regulation also reflects NEW LAW (AB 1840) which delays 

until March 1, 2019 the requirement that each school bus and student activity bus be equipped with a child 

safety alert system, and allows for a possible six-month extension for districts with an average daily 

attendance of 4,000 or less under specified conditions. Regulation adds the conditions under which a student 

activity bus is exempt from the requirement to install a child safety alert system. 

 

AR 5113 - Absences and Excuses 

(AR revised) 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2289) which (1) amends the definition of "immediate family" 

for the purpose of authorizing certain excused absences, (2) prohibits a district from requiring a physician's 

note for an absence by a parenting student to care for a sick child, and (3) clarifies that students may be 

excused from school, under specified conditions, for work in the entertainment or allied industry, 

participation with a nonprofit performing arts organization in a performance for a public school audience, or 

other reasons at the discretion of school administrators. 

 

AR 5131.41 - Use of Seclusion and Restraint 

(AR – NEW) 

New regulation reflects NEW LAW (AB 2657) which prohibits seclusion and behavioral restraint of students 

as a means of discipline, and provides that seclusion and restraint may be used only to control behavior that 

poses a clear and present danger of serious physical harm to a student or others if that behavior cannot be 

immediately prevented by a less restrictive response. Regulation specifies the conditions for such use, 

reporting requirements, and a list of seclusion and behavioral techniques that are always prohibited. 

 

BP/AR 5141.52 - Suicide Prevention 

(BP/AR revised) 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2639) which requires boards of districts that serve grades 7-12 to 

review the district's suicide prevention policy at least every five years and update it as necessary. Regulation 

updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 972) which requires districts that issue student identification cards to 

print specified suicide prevention hotline numbers on the cards effective July 1, 2019. Regulation also reflects 

NEW LAW (AB 1808) which requires CDE to identify online training programs that districts can use to 

train students and staff regarding suicide awareness and prevention.  

 
BP/AR 5144 - Discipline 

(BP/AR revised) 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2657) which prohibits seclusion and behavioral restraint of 

students as a means of discipline, and to encourage staff development regarding equitable implementation of 

discipline. Regulation updated to revise section on "Detention After School" to more directly reflect state 

regulations and delete a specific timeline for advance notice to parents/guardians of a student's detention. 

 

BP 5146 - Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students 

(BP revised) 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2289) which requires notification to parents/guardians and to 

pregnant and parenting students of their rights under the law; authorizes an excused absence for a parenting 

student to care for a sick child without a physician's note; provides that a pregnant or parenting student is 

entitled to eight weeks of parental leave, or longer if deemed medically necessary by the student's physician; 

and authorizes the use of uniform complaint procedures for complaints alleging noncompliance with the law. 



1 
**NEW ADMIN REG** 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
 
Business and Noninstructional Operations  
AR 3311.1 
 
UNIFORM PUBLIC CONSTRUCTION COST ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES 
 

Note:  The following administrative regulation is for use when the Governing Board has adopted a resolution to 
use the alternative procedures of the Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Act (UPCCAA) (Public 
Contract Code 22000-22045) for awarding public works projects; see the accompanying Board policy. 
 
According to the California Uniform Construction Cost Accounting Commission's "Frequently Asked Questions," 
available on its web site, a district participating in the UPCCAA is subject to other requirements of the Public 
Contract Code in areas where the UPCCAA is silent. See BP/AR 3311 - Bids for traditional bidding procedures 
pursuant to Public Contract Code 20110-20118.4. 
 
Public Contract Code 22032, as amended by AB 2249 (Ch. 169, Statutes of 2018), establishes the following 
requirements based on the amount of the public project. Pursuant to Public Contract Code 22020, the Commission 
reviews these monetary limits every five years and recommends to the State Controller whether they need to be 
adjusted. The State Controller is required to notify all participating public agencies of any adjustment to these 
limits prior to the effective date. 

 
Procedures for awarding contracts for public works projects shall be determined on the basis of 
the amount of the project, as follows: 
 
1. Public projects of $60,000 or less may be performed by district employees by force 

account, negotiated contract, or purchase order.  (Public Contract Code 22032) 
 

Note:  Public Contract Code 22034, as amended by AB 2249, requires any public agency participating in UPCCAA 
to adopt an informal bidding ordinance, with specified components, to govern the selection of contractors to 
perform public projects of $200,000 or less, as described in item #2 below. The Commission's "Frequently Asked 
Questions" clarify that, for school districts and other agencies that cannot legally adopt ordinances, a board policy, 
administrative regulation, or other legally applicable action of the board may be substituted. 
 
The district may revise item #2a to reflect the method(s) of notification of contractors used by the district. 

 
2. Contracts for public projects of $200,000 or less may be awarded through the following 

informal procedures:  (Public Contract Code 22032, 22034, 22038) 
 
a. The Superintendent or designee shall prepare a notice inviting informal bids which 

describes the project in general terms, explains how to obtain further information 
about the project, and states the time and place for the submission of bids. This 
notice shall be disseminated by mail, fax, or email to either or both of the following: 
 
(1) All contractors on a list of qualified contractors maintained by the district 

for the category of work being bid, unless the product or service is 
proprietary, at least 10 calendar days before bids are due 



2 
 

 
(2) All construction trade journals identified pursuant to Public Contract Code 

22036 
 
b. The district shall review the informal bids that were submitted and award the 

contract, except that: 
 
(1) If all bids received through the informal process are in excess of $200,000, 

the contract may be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder, provided that 
the Governing Board adopts a resolution with a four-fifths vote to award the 
contract at $212,500 or less and the Board determines the district's cost 
estimate is reasonable. 

 
(2) If no bids are received through the informal bid procedure, the project may 

be performed by district employees by force account or negotiated contract. 
 
3. Public projects of more than $200,000 shall, except as otherwise provided by law, be 

subject to formal bidding procedures, as follows:  (Public Contract Code 22032, 22037, 
22038) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Public Contract Code 22037, if there is no newspaper of general circulation published in the 
jurisdiction of the district, the district must post the bid notice in three locations as described below. Public Contract 
Code 22037 requires that these locations be identified in the agency's ordinance or regulation. Item #3a(1) may be 
revised to include such locations. 

 
a. Notice inviting formal bids shall state the time and place for receiving and opening 

sealed bids and distinctly describe the project. The notice shall be disseminated in 
both of the following ways: 
 
(1) Through publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the district's 

jurisdiction or, if there is no such newspaper, then by posting the notice in 
at least three places designated by the district as places for posting its 
notices. Such notice shall be published at least 14 calendar days before the 
date that bids will be opened. 

 
(2) By mail and electronically, if available, by either fax or email, to all 

construction trade journals identified pursuant to Public Contract Code 
22036. Such notice shall be sent at least 15 calendar days before the date 
that bids will be opened. 

 
 In addition to the notice required above, the district may give such other notice as 

it deems proper. 
 
 
 
 
  



3 
 

b. The district shall award the contract as follows: 
 

(1) The contract shall be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder. If two or 
more bids are the same and the lowest, the district may accept the one it 
chooses. 

 
(2) At its discretion, the district may reject all bids presented and declare that 

the project can be more economically performed by district employees, 
provided that the district notifies an apparent low bidder, in writing, of the 
district's intention to reject the bid. Such notice shall be mailed at least two 
business days prior to the hearing at which the district intends to reject the 
bid. 

 
(3) If no bids are received through the formal bid procedure, the project may be 

performed by district employees by force account or negotiated contract. 
(cf. 3311 - Bids) 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: February 12, 2019 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Business and Noninstructional Operations 
AR 3543 
 
TRANSPORTATION SAFETY AND EMERGENCIES 
 

Cautionary Notice:  Government Code 17581.5 relieves districts from the obligation to perform specified 
mandated activities when the Budget Act does not provide reimbursement during that fiscal year.  The Budget 
Act of 2018 (SB 840, Ch. 29, Statutes of 2018) extends the suspension of these requirements through the 
2018-19 fiscal year.  As a result, certain provisions of the following administrative regulation related to 
transportation safety plans and safety instruction for students may be suspended. 

 
Note:  The following regulation is for use by districts that provide school bus transportation using their own school 
bus drivers.  Districts that contract out for all transportation services may revise this regulation as appropriate to 
ensure that the contracting firm meets all legal requirements regarding transportation safety. 

 
Each day, prior to driving a school bus, each school bus driver shall inspect the bus to ensure that it is 
in safe operating condition and equipped as required by law and that all equipment is in good working 
order.  At the completion of each day's work, the driver shall prepare and sign a written report of the 
condition of the equipment specified in 13 CCR 1215. The report shall indicate any defect or deficiency 
discovered by or reported to the driver which would affect safe operation or result in mechanical 
breakdown of the bus or, if. If no defect or deficiency wasis discovered or reported, the driver shall so 
indicate on the report. Any defect or deficiency that would affect safe operation shall be repaired prior 
to operating the bus.  (13 CCR 1215) 
(cf. 3540 - Transportation) 
(cf. 3541.1 - Transportation for School-Related Trips) 
(cf. 3542 - School Bus Drivers) 
 
Passenger Restraint Systems 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Vehicle Code 27316 and 27316.5, any school bus or student activity bus purchased or leased 
for use in California must be equipped with a passenger restraint system if the bus was manufactured on or after 
the dates specified in law, as described below. As amended by AB 1798 (Ch. 206, Statutes of 2018), Vehicle Code 
27316 requires that all school buses in use in California must be equipped with a passenger restraint system on or 
before July 1, 2035. 
 
Toward this end, districts may retrofit older school buses with passenger restraint systems. In determining whether 
to retrofit buses, the California Department of Education's (CDE) "Passenger Restraints Frequently Asked 
Questions" recommends that districts consider the age of the bus, the total cost of the retrofit, and the required 
reinspection of the bus by the California Highway Patrol. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that any school bus or student activity bus which is 
purchased or leased by the district is equipped with a combination pelvic and upper torso passenger 
restraint system at all designated seating positions if that bus:  (Vehicle Code 27316, 27316.5; 13 CCR 
1201) 
 
1. Is a Type 1 school bus designed for carrying more than 16 passengers and the driver, and was 

manufactured on or after July 1, 2005 



2 
 

 
2. Is a Type 2 school bus or student activity bus designed for carrying 16 or fewer passengers and 

the driver, or for carrying 20 or fewer passengers and the driver if the bus has a manufacturer's 
vehicle weight rating of 10,000 pounds or less, and was manufactured on or after July 1, 2004 

 
Note:  The following optional paragraph reflects legislative intent of Vehicle Code 27316. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall prioritize the allocation of school buses purchased, leased, or 
contracted to ensure that elementary students receive first priority for new school buses equipped with 
passenger restraint systems whenever feasible. 
 
When a school bus or student activity bus is equipped with a passenger restraint system, all passengers 
shall use the passenger restraint system.  (5 CCR 14105) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Vehicle Code 27316, no person, district, or organization may be held criminally liable if a 
passenger improperly uses or fails to use the passenger restraint system. However, the CDE's "Passenger Restraints 
Frequently Asked Questions" encourages districts to develop procedures to enforce disciplinary actions for nonuse 
or improper use of the passenger restraint system. 
The following optional paragraph may be expanded to specify the steps that should be taken by the driver to 
reasonably ensure that all passengers are properly restrained (e.g., verbal instructions to students, visual 
inspection), which may vary depending on the age/grade levels of the students. Such steps may also be incorporated 
in district regulations adopted pursuant to 5 CCR 14103 related to student conduct on buses, bus driver authority, 
and the suspension of riding privileges; see BP/AR 5131.1 - Bus Conduct. 

 
Bus drivers shall be instructed regarding procedures to enforce the proper use of the passenger restraint 
system.  Students who fail to follow instructions of the bus driver may be subject to discipline, 
including suspension of riding privileges, in accordance with Board policy and administrative 
regulations. 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct); (cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
 
Fire Extinguishers 
 
Each school bus shall be equipped with at least one fire extinguisher, located in the driver's 
compartment, which meets the standards specified in law.  In addition, a wheelchair school bus shall 
have another fire extinguisher placed at the wheelchair loading door or emergency exit. All fire 
extinguishers shall be regularly inspected and serviced in accordance with regulations adopted by the 
State Fire Marshal.  (Education Code 39838; 13 CCR 1242; 19 CCR 574-575.3) 
 
Child Safety Alert System 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Vehicle Code 28160, as amended by AB 1840 (Ch. 426, Statutes of 2018), on or before March 
1, 2019, each school bus, student activity bus, youth bus, and child care motor vehicle (i.e., vehicle designed, used, 
or maintained for more than eight persons, including the driver, that is used by a child care provider to transport 
children) must be equipped with a "child safety alert system" (i.e., a device located at the interior rear of a vehicle 
that requires the driver to either manually contact or scan the device before exiting the vehicle). Districts with an 
average daily attendance of 4,000 or less that cannot meet this requirement by that date may submit specified 
documentation to the California Highway Patrol, on or before March 1, 2019, which demonstrates that they have 
ordered or purchased the child safety alert system(s) and made arrangements for the installation. Upon providing 
this documentation, such districts will have until September 1, 2019 to meet the requirement. 
Student activity buses may be exempt from this requirement if certain procedures are followed, as specified in 
Vehicle Code 28160. 



3 
 

 
In accordance with Vehicle Code 28160, each school bus or student activity bus shall be equipped with 
an operational child safety alert system at the interior rear of the bus that requires the driver to either 
manually contact or scan the device, thereby prompting the driver to inspect the entirety of the interior 
of the vehicle before exiting. 
 
A student activity bus that does not have a child safety alert system may be used only if all of the 
following apply:  (Vehicle Code 28160) 
 
1. The student activity bus is not used exclusively to transport students. 
 
2. When the student activity bus is used to transport students, the students are accompanied by at 

least one adult chaperone selected by a school official. If an adult chaperone is not a school 
employee, the chaperone shall meet the requirements for a school volunteer. 
(cf. 1240 - Volunteer Assistance) 

 
3. One adult chaperone has a list of every student and adult chaperone, including a school 

employee, who is on the student activity bus at the time of departure. 
 
4. The driver has reviewed all safety and emergency procedures before the initial departure, and 

the driver and adult chaperone have signed a form, with the time and date, acknowledging that 
the safety plan and procedures were reviewed. 

 
5. Immediately before departure from any location, the adult chaperone shall account for each 

student on the list of students, verify the number of students to the driver, and sign a form 
indicating that all students are present or accounted for. 

 
6. After students have exited a student activity bus, and before driving away, the driver shall 

check all areas of the bus, including, but not limited to, overhead compartments and bathrooms, 
to ensure that the bus is vacant. 

 
7. The driver shall sign a form with the time and date verifying that all required procedures have 

been followed. 
 
8. The information required to be recorded pursuant to items #4, 5, and 7 may be recorded on a 

single form and shall be retained by the district for a minimum of two years. 
 
Electronic Communications Devices 
 

Note:  Vehicle Code 23125 prohibits a person from driving a school bus while using a wireless telephone except 
for work-related or emergency purposes. Vehicle Code 23123.5 prohibits the driver of a motor vehicle (including 
a school bus or school activity bus pursuant to Vehicle Code 415 and 545) from using an electronic wireless 
communications device for any purpose, including, but not limited to, text-based communication, but provides an 
exception for voice-operated and hands-free operation or for a function that requires only a single swipe or tap of 
the driver's finger as long as the device is mounted on the windshield, dashboard, or center console of the vehicle. 
The following paragraph limits the use of any electronic communications device to work-related or emergency 
purposes. The district should consult legal counsel if it is considering allowing broader use of such devices. 

 



4 
 

A bus driver is prohibited from driving a school bus or student activity bus while using a wireless 
telephone or other electronic wireless communications device except for work-related or emergency 
purposes, including, but not limited to, contacting a law enforcement agency, health care provider, fire 
department, or other emergency service agency or entity. In any such permitted situation, the driver 
shall only use a wireless telephone or device that is specifically designed and configured to allow 
voice-operated and hands-free operation or a function that requires only a single swipe or tap of the 
driver's finger provided the device is mounted on the windshield, dashboard, or center console of the 
bus.  (Vehicle Code 23123.5, 23125) 
 
Safe Bus Operations 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 39834, any Governing Board member, employee, or other person who 
knowingly operates or permits operation of a school bus in excess of its seating capacity is guilty of a misdemeanor. 
However, the Board is authorized to adopt policy that allows seating capacities to be exceeded in cases of 
emergency; see BP/AR 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan. 

 
School buses and student activity buses shall not be operated whenever the number of passengers 
exceeds bus seating capacity, except when necessary in emergency situations which require that 
individuals be transported immediately to ensure their safety.  (Education Code 39834) 
(cf. 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan) 
 

Note:  Vehicle Code 34501.6 mandates any district that provides student transportation to adopt procedures that 
limit bus operation when atmospheric conditions reduce visibility, as described below, and that give drivers for 
school activity trips discretionary authority to discontinue operation when it is unsafe. 

 
School bus operations shall be limited when atmospheric conditions reduce visibility on the roadway 
to 200 feet or less during regular home-to-school transportation service.  Bus drivers for school activity 
trips may discontinue bus operation whenever they determine that it is unsafe to continue operation 
because of reduced visibility.  (Vehicle Code 34501.6) 
 
Unauthorized Entry 
 
The Superintendent or designee may place a notice at bus entrances that warns against unauthorized 
entry.  The driver or another school official may order any person to disembark if that person enters a 
bus without prior authorization.  (Education Code 39842; 13 CCR 1256.5) 
(cf. 3515.2 - Disruptions) 
 
Transportation Safety Plan for Boarding and Exiting Buses 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop a transportation safety plan containing procedures for 
school personnel to follow to ensure the safe transport of students. The plan shall address all of the 
following:  (Education Code 39831.3) 
 
1. Determination of whether students in grades prekindergarten through 12 require an escort to 

cross a private road or highway at a bus stop pursuant to Vehicle Code 22112 
 
2. Procedures for all students in grades prekindergarten through 12 to follow as they board and 

exit the bus at their bus stops 
 



5 
 

3. Boarding and exiting a school bus at a school or other trip destination 
 

Note:  Education Code 39831.3 requires that the transportation plan include procedures to ensure that a student is 
not left unattended on a school bus or student activity bus. It is recommended that the plan reflect the requirement 
of Vehicle Code 28160 to install a child safety alert system on each bus.  See the section "Child Safety Alert 
System" above. 

 
4.  Procedures to ensure that a student is not left unattended on a school bus, student activity bus, 

or, if applicable, youth bus 
 
5. Procedures and standards for designating an adult chaperone, other than the driver, to 

accompany students on a school activity bus 
 
A copy of the plan shall be kept at each school site and made available upon request to the California 
Highway Patrol (CHP).  (Education Code 39831.3) 
 
Parental Notifications 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide written safety information to the parents/guardians of all 
students in grades prekindergarten through 12 who have not previously been transported in a district 
school bus or student activity bus.  This information shall be provided upon registration and shall 
contain:  (Education Code 39831.5) 
1. A list of school bus stops near each student's home 
2. General rules of conduct at school bus loading zones 
3. Red light crossing instructions 
4. A description of the school bus danger zone 
5. Instructions for safely walking to and from school bus stops 
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 
 
Student Instruction 
 
Students who are transported in a school bus or student activity bus shall receive instruction in school 
bus emergency procedures and passenger safety as follows:  (Education Code 39831.5; 5 CCR 14102) 
 
1. Each year, all students who receive home-to-school transportation in a school bus shall be 

provided appropriate instruction in safe riding practices and emergency evacuation drills. 
 
2. At least once each school year, all students in grades prekindergarten through 12 who receive 

home-to-school transportation shall receive safety instruction which includes, but is not limited 
to: 
 
a. Proper loading and unloading procedures, including escorting by the driver 
b. How to safely cross the street, highway, or private road 
c. In school buses with passenger restraint systems, instruction in the use of such systems 

as specified in 5 CCR 14105, including, but not limited to, the proper fastening and 
release of the passenger restraint system, acceptable placement of passenger restraint 
systems on students, times at which the passenger restraint systems should be fastened 
and released, and acceptable placement of the passenger restraint systems when not in 
use 



6 
 

d. Proper passenger conduct 
e. Bus evacuation procedures 
f. Location of emergency equipment 
 
As part of this instruction, students shall evacuate the school bus through emergency exit doors. 
Instruction also may include responsibilities of passengers seated next to an emergency exit. 
 
Each time the above instruction is given, the following information shall be documented: 
 
a. District name 
b. School name and location 
c. Date of instruction 
d. Names of supervising adults 
e. Number of students participating 
f. Grade levels of students 
g. Subjects covered in instruction 
h. Amount of time taken for instruction 
i. Bus driver's name 
j. Bus number 
k. Additional remarks 
 
This documentation shall be kept on file at the district office or the school for one year and 
shall be available for inspection by the CHP. 
(cf. 3580 - District Records) 

 
3. Before departing on a school activity trip, all students riding on a school bus or student activity 

bus shall receive safety instruction which includes, but is not limited to, the location of 
emergency exits and the location and use of emergency equipment.  This instruction also may 
include responsibilities of passengers seated next to an emergency exit. 

 
Bus Accidents 
 
In the event of a school bus accident, the driver shall immediately notify the CHP and the 
Superintendent or designee. The driver shall not leave the immediate vicinity of the bus to seek aid 
unless necessary.  (13 CCR 1219) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a report of each accident that occurred on public or 
private property involving a school bus with students aboard. The report shall contain pertinent details 
of the accident and shall be retained for 12 months from the date of the accident. If the accident was 
not investigated by the CHP, the Superintendent or designee shall forward a copy of the report to the 
local CHP within five work days of the date of the accident.  (13 CCR 1234) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall review all investigations of bus incidents and accidents to develop 
preventative measures. 
(cf. 4112.42/4212.42/4312.42 - Drug and Alcohol Testing for School Bus Drivers) 
 
 
 
 



7 
 

Legal Reference: 
EDUCATION CODE 
39830-39843  Transportation, school buses 
39860  Contract for transportation; requirement that student not be left unattended 
51202  Instruction in personal and public health and safety 
PENAL CODE 
241.3  Assault against school bus driver 
243.3  Battery against school bus driver 
VEHICLE CODE 
415  Definition of motor vehicle 
545-546  Definition of school bus and student activity bus 
22112  Loading and unloading passengers 
23123.5  Use of wireless telephone or communications device while driving; exceptions 
23125  Use of wireless telephone prohibited while driving school bus 
27316-27316.5  Passenger restraint systems 
28160  Child safety alert system 
34500  California Highway Patrol responsibility to regulate safe operation of school buses 
34501.5  California Highway Patrol responsibility to adopt rules re:  safe operation of school buses 
34501.6  School buses; reduced visibility 
34508  California Highway Patrol responsibility to adopt rules re:  equipment and bus operations 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 
14100-14105  School buses and student activity buses 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 13 
1200-1294  Motor carrier safety 
2480  Airborne toxic control measure; limitation on bus idling 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 19 
574-575.3  Inspection and maintenance of fire extinguishers 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 49 
571.1-571.500  Motor vehicle standards, including school buses 

Management Resources: 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Passenger Restraints Frequently Asked Questions 
WEB SITES 
American School Bus Council:  http://www.americanschoolbuscouncil.org 
California Association of School Business Officials:  http://www.casbo.org 
California Association of School Transportation Officials:  http://www.castoways.org 
California Department of Education, Office of School Transportation:  http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/tn 
California Highway Patrol:  http://www.chp.ca.gov 
National Transportation Safety Board:  http://www.ntsb.gov 
U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration:  
http://www.nhtsa.dot.gov 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: November 12, 2014 
revised: January 17, 2017 
revised: February 12, 2019 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Students 
AR 5113 
 
ABSENCES AND EXCUSES 
 
Excused Absences 
 

ANote:  Items #1-14 below reflect absences that are authorized by law to be considered as excused absences for 
purposes of enforcing the compulsory state attendance laws. Pursuant to Education Code 48205, absences specified 
in items #1-10 are considered absences in computing average daily attendance and do not generate state 
apportionment payments. 

 
Subject to any applicable limitation, condition, or other requirement specified in law, a student's 
absence shall be excused for any of the following reasons: 
 
1. Personal illness  (Education Code 48205) 
 
2. Quarantine under the direction of a county or city health officer  (Education Code 48205) 

(cf. 5112.2 - Exclusions from Attendance) 
 
3. Medical, dental, optometrical, or chiropractic appointment  (Education Code 48205) 
 
4. Attendance at funeral services for a member of the student's immediate family  (Education 

Code 48205) 
 
Such absence shall be limited to one day if the service is conducted in California or three 
days if the service is conducted out of state.  (Education Code 48205) 

 
5. Jury duty in the manner provided by law  (Education Code 48205) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48205, absence due to the illness or medical appointment of a student's child 
is counted as an excused absence. As amended by AB 2289 (Ch. 942, Statutes of 2018), Education Code 48205 
prohibits the district from requiring a physician's note for such absences. See the section "Method of Verification" 
below. 

 
6. Illness or medical appointment of a child to whom the student is the custodial parent  

(Education Code 48205) 
(cf. 5146 - Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students) 

 
7. Upon advance written request by the parent/guardian and the approval of the principal or 

designee, justifiable personal reasons including, but not limited to:  (Education Code 
48205) 

 
a. Appearance in court 
b. Attendance at a funeral service 
c. Observance of a religious holiday or ceremony 
d. Attendance at religious retreats for no more than four hours per semester 



2 
 

e. Attendance at an employment conference 
f. Attendance at an educational conference on the legislative or judicial process 

offered by a nonprofit organization 
 
8. Service as a member of a precinct board for an election pursuant to Elections Code 12302  

(Education Code 48205) 
(cf. 6142.3 - Civic Education) 

 
9. To spend time with an immediate family member who is an active duty member of the 

uniformed services, as defined in Education Code 49701, and has been called to duty for 
deployment to a combat zone or a combat support position or is on leave from or has 
immediately returned from such deployment  (Education Code 48205) 
 
Such absence shall be granted for a period of time to be determined at the discretion of the 
Superintendent or designee.  (Education Code 48205) 
(cf. 6173.2 - Education of Children of Military Families) 

 
10. To attend his/herAttendance at a naturalization ceremony to become a United States 

citizen.  (Education Code 48205) 
 

Note:  Item #11 below should be included only if the Governing Board has adopted a resolution permitting 
absences for religious instruction or exercises. See the accompanying Board policy. If these absences are 
allowed, Education Code 46014 mandates that the Board adopt regulations governing students' attendance at 
religious exercises or instruction and the reporting of such absences. These regulations should include all of item 
#11 below and may be expanded to reflect district practice. 

 
11. Participation in religious exercises or to receive moral and religious instruction in 

accordance with district policy, subject to the following conditions:  (Education Code 
46014) The at the student's parent/guardian shall provide written consent for the 
absence.place of worship or other suitable place away from school  (Education Code 46014) 
(cf. 6141.2 - Recognition of Religious Beliefs and Customs) 

 
Note:  Education Code 46014 provides that absence for participation in religious instruction or exercises will not 
be considered an absence for state apportionment purposes if the student attends school for at least the minimum 
school day and is not absent for this purpose on more than four days per school month. Pursuant to Education 
Code 46112, 46113, 46117, and 46141, unless otherwise provided by law, the minimum school day is generally 
180 minutes for kindergarten, 230 minutes for grades 1-3, and 240 minutes for grades 4-12.  For further 
information, see AR 6112 - School Day. 

 
Absence for student shall beparticipation in religious exercises or instruction shall not be 
considered an absence for the purpose of computing average daily attendance if the student 
attends at least the minimum school day as specified in AR 6112 - School Day, and is not 
excused from school for this purpose on no more than four days per school month.  
(Education Code 46014) 
(cf. 6112 - School Day) 

 
12. Work in the entertainment or allied industry  (Education Code 48225.5) 
 
 Such absence shall be excused provided that the student holds a work permit authorizing 

such work and is absent for a period of not more than five consecutive days and up to five 
absences per school year.  (Education Code 48225.5) 

 



3 
 
13. Participation with a nonprofit performing arts organization in a performance for a public 

school audience  (Education Code 48225.5) 
 
 A student may be excused for up to five such absences per school year provided that the 

student's parent/guardian provides a written explanation of such absence to the school.  
(Education Code 48225.5) 

 
Note:  As amended by AB 2289, Education Code 48205 clarifies that, in addition to the excused absences described 
in Education Code 48205 and 48225.5, students may be excused for other reasons at the discretion of school 
administrators. 

 
14. Other reasons authorized at the discretion of the principal or designee based on the student's 

specific circumstances  (Education Code 48205, 48260) 
 

Note:  AB 2289 amended Education Code 48205 to revise the definition of "immediate family" as provided in the 
following paragraph. 

 
For the purpose of the absences described above, immediate family means the student's 
parent/guardian, brother or sister, grandparent, or any other relative living in the student's 
household.  (Education Code 48205) 
 
Method of Verification 
 

Note:  Education Code 48205, as amended by AB 2289, prohibits the district from requiring a physician's note for 
absences due to the illness or medical appointment of the student's child. However, the district is authorized to 
require verification of other absences. The following section should be revised to reflect district-adopted methods 
of verification and to specify employee(s) assigned to verify absences. 5 CCR 420-421 provide guidelines for 
verifying absences due to illness; quarantine; medical, dental, or eye appointments; or attendance at a funeral 
service of a member of a student's immediate family. 5 CCR 421 authorizes a student's absence to be verified by 
a school or public health nurse, attendance supervisor, physician, principal, teacher, or any other qualified district 
employee assigned to make such verification. 

 
Student absence to care for a child for whom the student is the custodial parent shall not require a 
physician's note.  (Education Code 48205) 
 
For other absences, the student shall, upon returning to school following the absence, present a 
satisfactory explanation verifying the reason for the absence.  Absences shall be verified by the 
student's parent/guardian, other person having charge or control of the minorstudent, or the student 
if age 18 or older.  (Education Code 46012; 5 CCR 306) 
 
When an absence is planned, the principal or designee shall be notified prior to the date of the 
absence when possible. 
 
The following methods may be used to verify student absences: 
 
1. Written note, fax, email, or voice mail from parent/guardian or parent representative. 
 
2. Conversation, in person or by telephone, between the verifying employee and the student's 

parent/guardian or parent representative. The employee shall subsequently record the 
following: 
 



4 
 

a. Name of student 
b. Name of parent/guardian or parent representative 
c. Name of verifying employee 
d. Date(s) of absence 
e. Reason for absence 
(cf. 5113.11 - Attendance Supervision) 

 
3. Visit to the student's home by the verifying employee, or any other reasonable method 

which establishes the fact that the student was absent for the reasons stated.  The employee 
shall document the verification and include the information specified in item #2 above. 

 
4. Physician's verification. 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph provides a means of verifying an excuse for confidential medical services 
without inquiring into the nature of the medical services. 

 
a. When excusing students for confidential medical services or verifying such 

appointments, district staff shall not ask the purpose of such appointments but may 
request a note from the medical office to confirm the time of the appointment. 

 
Note:  The following optional paragraph provides that, after absences for illness on multiple occasions, the student 
may be required to bring a note from a physician to verify the illness. If a student does not have access to medical 
services in order to obtain such verification, the district may assist the student in obtaining the medical consultation 
if it is required. 

 
b. If a student shows a pattern of chronic absenteeism due to illness, district staff may 

require physician verification of any further student absences. 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 

 
Parental Notifications 
 
At the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall: 
 

Note:  The requirement in item #1 below is for use by districts whose board has adopted a resolution permitting 
an excused absence for religious instruction or exercises. See the accompanying Board policy and item #11 in the 
section "Excused Absences" above. 

 
1. Notify parents/guardians of the right to excuse a student from school in order to participate 

in religious exercises or to receive moral and religious instruction at their places of worship, 
or at other suitable places away from school property designated by a religious group, 
church, or denomination  (Education Code 46014, 48980) 

 
Note:  The requirement in item #2 applies to all districts. Districts that maintain only elementary grades should 
delete the reference to students in grades 7-12. 

 
2. Notify students in grades 7-12 and the parents/guardians of all students enrolled in the 

district that school authorities may excuse any student from school to obtain confidential 
medical services without the consent of the student's parent/guardian (Education Code 
46010.1) 

 



5 
 
3. Notify parents/guardians that a student shall not have a grade reduced or lose academic 

credit for any excused absence if missed assignments and tests that can reasonably be 
provided are satisfactorily completed within a reasonable period of time. Such notice shall 
include the full text of Education Code 48205.  (Education Code 48980) 
(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement) 
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 
(cf. 6154 - Homework/Makeup Work) 

 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: May 8, 2012 
revised: April 11, 2017 
revised: February 12, 2019 



1 
**NEW ADMIN REG** 

 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Students  
AR 5131.41 
 
USE OF SECLUSION AND RESTRAINT 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 49005-49006.4, as added by AB 2657 (Ch. 998, Statutes of 2018), seclusion 
and behavioral restraint, as defined below, are prohibited as a means of student discipline. Seclusion and restraint 
must be avoided whenever possible and may be used only to control behavior that poses a clear and present danger 
of serious physical harm to a student or others and that cannot be immediately prevented by a less restrictive 
response. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 49005.1 and 49006.4, these requirements apply to all students in grades preK-12 and 
students with disabilities. For additional procedures applicable to students with disabilities, see AR 6159.4 - 
Behavioral Interventions for Special Education Students. 

 
District staff shall enforce standards of appropriate student conduct in order to provide a safe and 
secure environment for students and staff on campus, but are prohibited from using seclusion and 
behavioral restraint to control student behavior except to the limited extent authorized by law. 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 6159.4 - Behavioral Interventions for Special Education Students) 
 
Definitions 
 
Behavioral restraint includes mechanical restraint or physical restraint used as an intervention 
when a student presents an immediate danger to self or to others. Behavioral restraint does not 
include postural restraints or devices used to improve a student's mobility and independent 
functioning rather than to restrict movement.  (Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Mechanical restraint means the use of a device or equipment to restrict a student's freedom of 
movement. Mechanical restraint does not include the use of devices as prescribed by an appropriate 
medical or related services professional, including, but not limited to, adaptive devices or 
mechanical supports used to achieve proper body position, balance, or alignment; vehicle safety 
restraints during the transport of a student; restraints for medical immobilization; or orthopedically 
prescribed devices which permit a student to participate in activities without risk of harm. 
Mechanical restraint also does not include the use of devices by peace officers or security 
personnel for detention or for public safety purposes.  (Education Code 49005.1) 
(cf. 3515.3 - District Police/Security Department) 
 
Physical restraint means a personal restriction that immobilizes or reduces the ability of a student 
to move the torso, arms, legs, or head freely. Physical restraint does not include a physical escort 
in which a staff member temporarily touches or holds the student's hand, wrist, arm, shoulder, or 
back for the purpose of inducing a student who is acting out to walk to a safe location.  Physical 
restraint also does not include the use of force by peace officers or security personnel for detention 
or for public safety purposes.  (Education Code 49005.1) 
 



2 
 
Prone restraint means the application of a behavioral restraint on a student in a facedown position.  
(Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Seclusion means the involuntary confinement of a student alone in a room or an area from which 
the student is physically prevented from leaving. Seclusion does not include a timeout involving 
the monitored separation of the student in an unlocked setting, which is implemented for the 
purpose of calming the student.  (Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Prohibitions 
 
Seclusion and behavioral restraint of students shall not be used in any form as a means of coercion, 
discipline, convenience, or retaliation.  (Education Code 49005.8) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
 
In addition, staff shall not take any of the following actions:  (Education Code 49005.2, 49005.8) 
 
1. Administer a drug that is not a standard treatment for a student's medical or psychiatric 

condition in order to control the student's behavior or restrict the student's freedom of 
movement 

 
2. Use locked seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law 

to use as a locked room 
 
3. Use a physical restraint technique that obstructs a student's respiratory airway or impairs a 

student's breathing or respiratory capacity, including a technique in which a staff member 
places pressure on the student's back or places his/her body weight against the student's 
torso or back 

 
4. Use a behavioral restraint technique that restricts breathing, including, but not limited to, 

the use of a pillow, blanket, carpet, mat, or other item to cover a student's face 
 
5. Place a student in a facedown position with the student's hands held or restrained behind 

the student's back 
 
6. Use a behavioral restraint for longer than is necessary to contain the behavior that poses a 

clear and present danger of serious physical harm to the student or others 
 
Limited Use of Seclusion or Restraint 
 
Staff shall avoid the use of seclusion and behavioral restraint of students whenever possible. 
Seclusion or behavioral restraint may be used only to control student behavior that poses a clear 
and present danger of serious physical harm to the student or others, which cannot be prevented 
by a response that is less restrictive.  (Education Code 49005.4, 49005.6, 49005.8) 
(cf. 5131.4 - Student Disturbances) 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 
 
If a student is put in seclusion, the student shall be under constant, direct observation of a staff 
member. Such observation may be through a window or another barrier through which the staff 
member is able to make direct eye contact with the student, but shall not be made through indirect 
means such as a security camera or closed-circuit television.  (Education Code 49005.8) 



3 
 
 
If a student is restrained, staff shall afford the student the least restrictive alternative and the 
maximum freedom of movement, and shall use the least number of restraint points, while ensuring 
the physical safety of the student and others.  (Education Code 49005.8) 
 
If a prone restraint technique is used on a student, a staff member shall observe the student for any 
signs of physical distress throughout the use of the restraint. Whenever possible, the staff member 
monitoring the student shall not be involved in restraining the student.  (Education Code 49005.8) 
 
Reports 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 49006, as added by AB 2657, districts are required to collect data and report to 
the California Department of Education (CDE) annually in regard to the use of seclusion and behavioral restraints 
for district students, as specified below. CDE is required to post the data from the report on its web site within 
three months after the report is due to CDE. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually collect data on the number of times that seclusion, 
mechanical restraint, and physical restraint were used on students and the number of students 
subjected to such techniques. The data shall be disaggregated by race/ethnicity and gender, and 
reported for students with a Section 504 plan, students with an individualized education program, 
and all other students. This report shall be submitted to the California Department of Education no 
later than three months after the end of each school year, and shall be available as a public record 
pursuant to Government Code 6250-6270.  (Education Code 49006) 
(cf. 1340 - Access to District Records) 
(cf. 3580 - District Records) 
(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 
(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education Under Section 504) 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
49001  Prohibition against corporal punishment 
49005-49006.4  Seclusion and restraint 
56520-56525  Behavioral interventions, students with disabilities, especially: 
56521.1  Emergency interventions when behavior poses threat to student or others 
56521.2  Prohibited interventions 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
6250-6270  California Public Records Act 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 
1400-1482  Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 29 
794  Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 

Management Resources: 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Restraint and Seclusion:  Resource Document, May 2012 
WEB SITES 
California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 
U.S. Department of Education:  http://www.ed.gov 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: February 12, 2019 

http://www.ed.gov/


1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Students 
BP 5141.52 
 
SUICIDE PREVENTION 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the Governing Board of any district serving students in grades 7-12 
adopt a policy on student suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention (i.e., intervention conducted after a 
suicide) with specified components. Those components are addressed in the following policy and the 
accompanying administrative regulation. Although not required by law, districts serving students in grades K-6 
may adapt this policy for use in elementary schools. 
 
The following policy and accompanying administrative regulation should be revised to reflect district practice. 
Pursuant to Education Code 215, the policy must be developed in consultation with school and community 
stakeholders, school-employed mental health professionals, and suicide prevention experts. It is recommended that 
districts also consult with legal counsel and the district's risk manager or insurance carrier, as appropriate. 
 
Also see the California Department of Education's model policy required by Education Code 215. 

 
The Governing Board recognizes that suicide is a leading cause of death among youth and that 
school personnel who regularly interact with students are often in a position to recognize the 
warning signs of suicide and to offer appropriate referral and/or assistance. To attemptIn an effort 
to reduce suicidal behavior and its impact on students and families, the Superintendent or designee 
shall develop measures and strategies for suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention. 
 
In developing measures and strategies for use by the district, the Superintendent or designee may 
consult with school health professionals, school counselors, school psychologists, school social 
workers, administrators, other staff, parents/guardians, students, suicide prevention experts, local 
health agencies, mental health professionals, and community organizations. 
(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 
(cf. 1400 - Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools) 
 
Such measures and strategies shall include, but are not limited to: 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy address any training to be provided to teachers of 
students in grades 7-12 on suicide awareness and prevention. See the accompanying administrative regulation for 
additional language fulfilling this mandate. In addition, Education Code 49604 encourages each district to provide 
suicide prevention training at least once to each middle, junior high, and high school counselor. Item #1 may be 
revised to specify other categories of employees who will receive the training. 

 
1. Staff development on suicide awareness and prevention for teachers, school counselors, 

and other district employees who interact with students in the secondary grades 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development); (cf. 4231 - Staff Development); (cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 

 
Note:  Items #2-7 below reflect optional strategies for suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention and may 
be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
2. Instruction to students in problem-solving and coping skills to promote students' mental, 

emotional, and social health and well-being, as well as instruction in recognizing and 
appropriately responding to warning signs of suicidal intent in others 
(cf. 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education) 

 



2 
 
3. Methods for promoting a positive school climate that enhances students' feelings of 

connectedness with the school and that is characterized by caring staff and harmonious 
interrelationships among students 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment) 
(cf. 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior) 

 
4. The provision of information to parents/guardians regarding risk factors and warning signs 

of suicide, the severity of the youth suicide problem among youth, the district's suicide 
prevention curriculum, basic steps for helping suicidal youth, and/or school and community 
resources that can help youth in crisis 

 
5. Encouragement for students to notify appropriate school personnel or other adults when 

they are experiencing thoughts of suicide or when they suspect or have knowledge of 
another student's suicidal intentions 

 
6. Crisis intervention procedures for addressing suicide threats or attempts 
 
7. Counseling and other postvention strategies for helping students, staff, and others cope in 

the aftermath of a student's suicide 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy specifically address the needs of high-risk groups, 
including, but not limited to, those listed in the following paragraph. See the accompanying administrative 
regulation for additional language fulfilling this mandate. 

 
As appropriate, these measures and strategies shall specifically address the needs of students who 
are at high risk of suicide, including, but not limited to, students who are bereaved by suicide; 
students with disabilities, mental illness, or substance use disorders; students who are experiencing 
homelessness or who are in out-of-home settings such as foster care; and students who are lesbian, 
gay, bisexual, transgender, or questioning youth.  (Education Code 215) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 215, as amended by AB 2639 (Ch. 437, Statutes of 2018), boards that serve 
students in grades 7-12 are required to review, and if necessary update, the district's student suicide prevention 
policy at least every five years. 

 
The Board shall review, and update as necessary, this policy at least every five years.  (Education 
Code 215) 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
215  Student suicide prevention policies 
215.5  Suicide prevention hotline contact information on student identification cards 
216  Suicide prevention online training programs 
32280-32289  Comprehensive safety plan 
49060-49079  Student records 
49602  Confidentiality of student information 
49604  Suicide prevention training for school counselors 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
810-996.6  Government Claims Act 



3 
 

PENAL CODE 
11164-11174.3  Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act 
WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE 
5698  Emotionally disturbed youth; legislative intent 
5850-5883 Children's Mental Health Services Act 
COURT DECISIONS 
Corales v. Bennett (Ontario-Montclair School District), (2009) 567 F.3d 554 

Management Resources: 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Health Education Content Standards for California Public Schools, Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, 
2008 
Health Framework for California Public Schools, Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, 2003 
CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION PUBLICATIONS 
School Connectedness:  Strategies for Increasing Protective Factors Among Youth, 2009 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGISTS PUBLICATIONS 
Preventing Suicide,:  Guidelines for Administrators and Crisis Teams, 2015 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES PUBLICATIONS 
Preventing Suicide:  A Toolkit for High Schools, 2012 
National Strategy for Suicide Prevention:  Goals and Objectives for Action, rev. 2012 
Preventing Suicide:  A Toolkit for High Schools, 2012 
WEB SITES 
American Association of Suicidology:  http://www.suicidology.org 
American Foundation for Suicide Prevention:  httphttps://afsp.org 
American Psychological Association:  http://www.apa.org 
American School Counselor Association:  httphttps://www.schoolcounselor.org 
California Department of Education, Mental Health:  http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/cg/mh 
California Department of Health Care Services, Suicide Prevention Program:  
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/MH/Pages/SuicidePrevention.aspx 
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Mental Health:  http://www.cdc.gov/mentalhealth 
National Association of School Psychologists:  httphttps://www.nasponline.org 
National Institute for Mental Health:  http://www.nimh.nih.gov 
Trevor Project:  http://thetrevorproject.org 
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services 
Administration:  http://www.samhsa.gov 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 11, 2017 
revised: February 12, 2019 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Students 
AR 5141.52 
 
SUICIDE PREVENTION 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 215, districts serving students in grades 7-12 are mandated to adopt a policy 
on student suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention (i.e., intervention conducted after a suicide). See the 
accompanying Board policy. The following administrative regulation provides additional strategies that fulfill the 
mandate and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Examples of suicide prevention strategies are also available in the California Department of Education's (CDE) 
model policy, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services publication Preventing Suicide:  A Toolkit for 
High Schools, and resources issued by other state and federal agencies and organizations. For further information 
about strategies to protect students from bullying, cyberbullying, and other harassment, see BP 5131 - Conduct, 
BP 5131.2 - Bullying, BP 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment, and BP 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior. 
Effective July 1, 2019, Education Code 215.5, as added by SB 972 (Ch. 460, Statutes of 2018), requires districts 
that issue or reissue student identification cards to have printed on either side of the card the telephone number of 
the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline (1-800-273-8255), and allows to have printed on the card the Crisis Text 
Line (texting HOME to 741741) and/or a local suicide prevention hotline telephone number. If, as of July 1, 2019, 
the district has unissued student identification cards that do not comply with the above requirements, the cards 
should be issued until the supply is depleted. 

 
Student identification cards shall include the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline telephone 
number and may also include the Crisis Text Line and/or a local suicide prevention hotline 
telephone number.  (Education Code 215.5) 
 
Staff Development 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy and procedures address any training to be provided 
to teachers of students in grades 7-12 on suicide awareness and prevention. In addition, Education Code 49604 
encourages each district to provide suicide prevention training at least once to each middle, junior high, and high 
school counselor. The following section may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Education Code 216, as added by AB 1808 (Ch. 32, Statutes of 2018), requires CDE to identify evidence-based 
online training program(s), aligned with the requirements of Education Code 215, that districts can use to train 
students and staff. Additionally, dependent upon funds being appropriated in the annual Budget Act, CDE will 
provide grants, upon application, to county offices of education for the acquisition of such training programs to 
disseminate to districts at no cost. 

 
Suicide prevention training shall be provided to teachers, counselors, and other district employees 
who interact with students at the secondary level.. The training shall be offered under the direction 
of a district counselor/psychologist and/or in cooperation with one or more community mental 
health agencies. 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development); (cf. 4231 - Staff Development); (cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 
 
Materials for training shall include how to identify appropriate mental health services at the school 
site and within the community, and when and how to refer youth and their families to those 
services. Materials also may include programs that can be completed through self-review of 
suitable suicide prevention materials.  (Education Code 215) 
 
Staff development shall include research and information related to the following topics: 
 



2 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy specifically address the needs of high-risk groups; 
see the accompanying Board policy. One strategy to specifically address their needs is to increase staff awareness 
of the higher rates of suicide among these groups, as provided in item #1 below. 

 
1. The higher risk of suicide among certain groups, including, but not limited to, students who 

are bereaved by suicide; students with disabilities, mental illness, or substance use 
disorders; students who are experiencing homelessness or who are in out-of-home settings 
such as foster care; and students who are lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or questioning 
youth 

 
Note:  Staff development may include training about individual risk factors associated with suicide, as provided 
in item #2 below. Information about risk factors is available from CDE, Centers for Disease Control and 
Prevention, American Association of Suicidology, American Foundation for Suicide Prevention, Trevor Project, 
and other agencies and organizations. 

 
2. Individual risk factors such as previous suicide attempt(s) or self-harm, history of 

depression or mental illness, family history of suicide or violence, feelings of isolation, 
interpersonal conflicts, a recent severe stressor or loss, family instability, impulsivity, and 
other factors 
(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 

 
3. Warning signs that may indicate depression, emotional distress, or suicidal intentions, such 

as changes in students' personality or behavior and verbalizations of hopelessness or 
suicidal intent 

 
4. Protective factors that may help to decrease a person'sstudent's suicide risk, such as 

resiliency, problem-solving ability, access to mental health care, and positive connections 
to family, peers, school, and community 

 
5. Instructional strategies for teaching the suicide prevention curriculum and promoting 

mental and emotional health 
 
6. School and community resources and services, including resources and services that meet 

the specific needs of high-risk groups 
(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 

 
7. Appropriate ways to interact with a student who is demonstrating emotional distress or is 

suicidal and procedures for intervening when a student attempts, threatens, or discloses the 
desire to die by suicide, including, but not limited to, appropriate protocols for monitoring 
the student while the immediate referral of the student to medical or mental health services 
is being processed 

 
8. District procedures for responding after a suicide has occurred 
 
Instruction 
 

Note:  The state's content standards for health education include voluntary standards pertaining to mental, 
emotional, and social health at selected elementary and secondary grades and suicide prevention instruction at 
grade 7 or 8 and in high school. 

 



3 
 
The district's comprehensive health education program shall promote the healthy mental, 
emotional, and social development of students and shall be aligned with the state content standards 
and curriculum framework. Suicide prevention instruction shall be incorporated into the health 
education curriculum at appropriate secondary grades and shall be designed to help students: 
 
1. Identify and analyze signs of depression and self-destructive behaviors and understand how 

feelings of depression, loss, isolation, inadequacy, and anxiety can lead to thoughts of 
suicide 

 
2. Develop coping and resiliency skills and self-esteem 
 
3. Learn to listen, be honest, share feelings, and get help when communicating with friends 

who show signs of suicidal intent 
 
4. Identify trusted adults, school resources, and/or community crisis intervention resources 

where youth can get help and recognize that there is no stigma associated with seeking 
services for mental health, substance abuse, and/or suicide prevention 
(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 
(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 
(cf. 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 

 
Intervention 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy and procedures address suicide intervention. The 
following section should be revised to reflect district practice. 
In addition, the district may choose to incorporate crisis intervention strategies in its comprehensive school safety 
plan adopted pursuant to Education Code 32280-32289; see BP/AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan. 

 
Students shall be encouraged to notify a teacher, principal, counselor, or other adult when they are 
experiencing thoughts of suicide or when they suspect or have knowledge of another student's 
suicidal intentions. 
 
Every statement regarding suicidal intent shall be taken seriously. Whenever a staff member 
suspects or has knowledge of a student's suicidal intentions based on the student's verbalizations 
or act of self-harm, he/shethe staff member shall promptly notify the principal or school counselor, 
who shall implement district intervention protocols as appropriate. 
 

Note:  Education Code 49602 generally protects the confidentiality of information of a personal nature disclosed 
to a school counselor by a student age 12 years or older or by a parent/guardian. However, in certain circumstances, 
the counselor may disclose such information to avert a clear and present danger to the health, safety, or welfare of 
the student or others within in the school community. Also see BP 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services. 

 
Although any personal information that a student discloses to a school counselor shall generally 
not be revealed, released, referenced, or discussed with third parties, the counselor may report to 
the principal or student's parents/guardians when he/she hasthere is reasonable cause to believe 
that disclosure is necessary to avert a clear and present danger to the health, safety, or welfare of 
the student. or others within the school community. In addition, the counselor may disclose 
information of a personal nature to psychotherapists, other health care providers, or the school 
nurse for the sole purpose of referring the student for treatment.  (Education Code 49602) 
(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 
 



4 
 
A school employeeSchool employees shall act only within the authorization and scope of 
his/hertheir credential or license. An employee is not authorized to diagnose or treat mental illness 
unless he/she is specifically licensed and employed to do so.  (Education Code 215) 
 
Whenever schools establish a peer counseling system to provide support for students, peer 
counselors shall receive training that includes identification of the warning signs of suicidal 
behavior and referral of a suicidal student to appropriate adults. 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
 
When a suicide attempt or threat is reported, the principal or designee shall ensure student safety 
by taking the following actions: 
 
1. Immediately securing medical treatment and/or mental health services as necessary 
 
2. Notifying law enforcement and/or other emergency assistance if a suicidal act is being 

actively threatened 
 
3. Keeping the student under continuous adult supervision until the parent/guardian and/or 

appropriate support agent or agency can be contacted and has the opportunity to intervene 
 
4. Removing other students from the immediate area as soon as possible 

(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 

 
The principal or designee shall document the incident in writing, including the steps that the school 
took in response to the suicide attempt or threat. 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is optional. If a student's parents/guardians refuse or neglect to access treatment 
for a student who has been identified to be at risk for suicide, the Superintendent or designee shall consider whether 
a referral to child protective services for child neglect is needed. Pursuant to Penal Code 11164-11174.3, the Child 
Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act, school employees who are mandated reporters are required to report child abuse 
or neglect, as defined in law, when they have knowledge of or reasonably suspect that a child is a victim of child 
abuse or neglect. See BP/AR 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall follow up with the parent/guardian and student in a timely 
manner to provide referrals to appropriate services as needed. If the parent/guardian does not 
access treatment for the student, the Superintendent or designee may meet with the parent/guardian 
to identify barriers to treatment and assist the family in providing follow-up care for the student. 
If follow-up care is still not provided, the Superintendent or designee shall consider whether 
he/sheit is requirednecessary, pursuant to laws for mandated reporters of child neglect, to refer the 
matter to the local child protective services agency. 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
 
For any student returning to school after a mental health crisis, the principal or designee and/or 
school counselor may meet with the parents/guardians and, if appropriate, with the student to 
discuss re-entry and appropriate next steps to ensure the student's readiness for return to school 
and determine the need for ongoing support. 
 
 
 



5 
 
Postvention 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy and procedures address suicide postvention. The 
following section should be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
In the event that a student dies by suicide, the Superintendent or designee shall communicate with 
the student's parents/guardians to offer condolences, assistance, and resources. In accordance with 
the laws governing confidentiality of student record information, the Superintendent or designee 
shall consult with the parents/guardians regarding facts that may be divulged to other students, 
parents/guardians, and staff. 
 

Note:  Research has identified an increased risk of suicide among youth who are grieving the suicide of another 
(so-called "suicide contagion"). The National Association of School Psychologists, in its Preventing Suicide:  
Guidelines for Administrators and Crisis Teams, recommends that memorials should be implemented with care so 
as not to sensationalize or glamorize suicide and thereby increase the suicide risk to other students. If a memorial 
is conducted for a student who dies by suicide, the association suggests a living memorial, such as making 
donations to a local crisis center, participating in an event that raises awareness about suicide prevention, or 
providing other opportunities for service activities in the school that emphasize the importance of students taking 
care of each other. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall implement procedures to address students' and staff's grief 
and to minimize the risk of imitative suicide or suicide contagion. He/sheThe Superintendent or 
designee shall provide students, parents/guardians, and staff with information, counseling, and/or 
referrals to community agencies as needed. School staff may receive assistance from school 
counselors or other mental health professionals in determining how best to discuss the suicide or 
attempted suicide with students. 
 
Any response to media inquiries shall be handled by the district-designated 
spokepersonspokesperson who shall not divulge confidential information. The district's response 
shall not sensationalize suicide and shall focus on the district's postvention plan and available 
resources. 
(cf. 1112- Media Relations) 
 
After any suicide or attempted suicide by a student, the Superintendent or designee shall provide 
an opportunity for all staff who responded to the incident to debrief, evaluate the effectiveness of 
the strategies used, and make recommendations for future actions. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation adopted: April 11, 2017 
revised: February 12, 2019 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Students 
BP 5144 
 
DISCIPLINE 
 

Note:  The following policy is optional. Pursuant to Education Code 52060-52077, the Governing Board is required 
to adopt a local control and accountability plan (LCAP) that includes a description of the specific actions that the 
district intends to take in order to achieve its annual goals in specific priority areas, including student engagement 
and school climate. See BP/AR 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan. 
 
Since a district's ability to meet its goals around these priorities is impacted by its student discipline policies and 
practices, the Board must be careful to enact rules that are effective in maintaining safety and order on campus and 
in correcting student misbehavior without unnecessarily excluding students from school or participation in 
instruction. State law specifies behaviors for which a student may be suspended and/or recommended for expulsion 
(see BP/AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) and authorizes the use of age-appropriate 
alternatives designed to address a student's specific misbehavior, including those listed in Education Code 48900.5 
and 48900.6. 
 
In addition, the U.S. Department of Justice's Civil Rights Division and the U.S. Department of Education's Office 
for Civil Rights (OCR), in their joint January 2014 Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration 
of School Discipline, state that studies have suggested a correlation between exclusionary discipline policies and 
practices (such as suspension and expulsion) and an array of serious educational, economic, and social problems, 
including school avoidance, diminished educational engagement, decreased academic achievement, increased 
behavior problems, and increased likelihood of dropping out, substance abuse, and involvement with the juvenile 
justice system. Consequently, they recommend that districts adopt alternative disciplinary measures that provide 
students with appropriate interventions and supports as a means for preventing and addressing student 
misbehavior. 

 
The Governing Board is committed to providing a safe, supportive, and positive school 
environment which is conducive to student learning and achievement and desires to 
preparingprepare students for responsible citizenship by fostering self-discipline and personal 
responsibility.  The Board believes that high expectations for student behavior, use of effective 
school and classroom management strategies, provision of appropriate intervention and support, 
and parent/guardian involvement can minimize the need for disciplinary measures that exclude 
students from instruction as a means for correcting student misbehavior. 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior) 
(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop effective, age-appropriate strategies for maintaining 
a positive school climate and correcting student misbehavior at district schools. The strategies shall 
focus on providing students with needed supports; communicating clear, appropriate, and 
consistent expectations and consequences for student conduct; and ensuring equity and continuous 
improvement in the implementation of district discipline policies and practices. 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
 



2 
 
In addition, the Superintendent or designee's strategies for correcting student misconduct shall 
reflect the Board's preference for the use of positive interventions and alternative disciplinary 
measures over exclusionary discipline measures. 
 
Disciplinary measures that may result in loss of instructional time or cause students to be 
disengaged from school, such as detention, suspension, and expulsion, shall be imposed only when 
required or permitted by law or when other means of correction have been documented to have 
failed.  (Education Code 48900.5) 
(cf. 5020 - Parent Rights and Responsibilities) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
(cf. 6159.4 - Behavioral Interventions for Special Education Students) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
School personnel and volunteers shall not allow any disciplinary action taken against a student to 
result in the denial or delay of a school meal.  (Education Code 49557.5) 
(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program) 
(cf. 3551 - Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund) 
(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 49005.2, as added by AB 2657 (Ch. 998, Statutes of 2018), use of seclusion 
and behavioral restraint as a means of discipline is prohibited. Education Code 49005.4, as added by AB 2657, 
provides that seclusion or behavioral constraint may only be used to control behavior that poses a clear and present 
danger of serious physical harm to a student or others that cannot be immediately prevented by a less restrictive 
response. See AR 5131.41 - Use of Seclusion and Restraint. 

 
Seclusion and behavioral restraint are prohibited as a means of discipline and shall not be used to 
correct student behavior except as permitted pursuant to Education Code 49005.4 and in 
accordance with district regulations.  (Education Code 49005.2) 
(cf. 5131.41 - Use of Seclusion and Restraint) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. According to Public Counsel's 
model policy issued as part of the Fix School Discipline Project, a discipline matrix that lists violations and 
consequences could be a useful guide to school site administrators with regard to when suspension or expulsion 
referrals should be utilized. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall create a model discipline matrix that lists violations and the 
consequences for each as allowed by law. 
 

Note:  Education Code 35291.5 authorizes, but does not require, school sites to adopt rules and procedures for 
student discipline.  Pursuant to Education Code 32282, any adopted site-level discipline rules must be included in 
the comprehensive safety plan; see BP/AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan. The following paragraph is 
optional. 

 
The administrative staff at each school may develop disciplinary rules to meet the school's 
particular needs consistent with law, Board policy, and district regulations.  The Board, at an open 
meeting, shall review the approved school discipline rules for consistency with Board policy and 
state law. Site-level disciplinary rules shall be included in the district's comprehensive safety plan.  
(Education Code 32282, 35291.5) 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 9320 - Meetings and Notices) 
 
 



3 
 
At all times, the safety of students and staff and the maintenance of an orderly school environment 
shall be priorities in determining appropriate discipline. When misconduct occurs, staff shall 
attempt to identify the causes of the student's behavior and implement appropriate discipline.  
When choosing between different disciplinary strategies, staff shall consider the effect of each 
option on the student's health, well-being, and opportunity to learn. 
 
Staff shall enforce disciplinary rules fairly, consistently, and in accordance with the district's 
nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 0415 - Equity) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide professional development as necessary to assist staff 
in developing the skills needed to effectively and equitably implement the disciplinary strategies 
adopted for district schools, including, but not limited to, consistentknowledge of school and 
classroom management skills and their consistent application, effective accountability and positive 
intervention techniques, and development ofthe tools to form strong, cooperative relationships 
with parents/guardians. 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development); (cf. 4231 - Staff Development); (cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 52060, the district must annually adopt an LCAP that includes a description of 
district goals for improving school climate, as provided in the following paragraph. 

 
District goals for improving school climate, based on suspension and expulsion rates, surveys of 
students, staff, and parents/guardians regarding their sense of school safety and connectedness to 
the school community, and other local measures, shall be included in the district's local control 
and accountability plan, as required by law. 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
(cf. 3100 - Budget) 
 
At the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall report to the Board 
regarding disciplinary strategies used in district schools in the immediately preceding school year 
and their effect on student learning. 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
32280-32288 32289 School safety plans 
35146  Closed sessions 
35291  Rules 
35291.5-35291.7  School-adopted discipline rules 
37223  Weekend classes 
44807.5  Restriction from recess 
48900-48926  Suspension and expulsion 
48980-48985  Notification of parent/guardian 
49005-49006.4  Seclusion and restraint 
49330-49335  Injurious objects 
49550-4956249564.5  Meals for needy students 
52060-52077  Local control and accountability plan 
CIVIL CODE 
1714.1  Parental liability for child's misconduct 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 
307  Participation in school activities until departure of bus 



4 
 

353  Detention after school 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 
1400-1482  Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 29 
794  Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 
1751-1769j  School Lunch Program 
1773  School Breakfast Program 

Management Resources: 
CSBA PUBLICATIONS 
Recent Legislation on Discipline:  AB 240, Fact Sheet, March 2015 
The Case for Reducing Out-of-School Suspensions and Expulsions, Fact Sheet, April 2014 
Providing a Safe, Nondiscriminatory School Environment for Transgender and Gender-Nonconforming 
Students, Policy Brief, February 2014 
Safe Schools:  Strategies for Governing Boards to Ensure Student Success, 2011 
Maximizing Opportunities for Physical Activity during the School Day, Fact Sheet, 2009 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PROGRAM ADVISORIES 
Classroom Management:  A California Resource Guide for Teachers and Administrators of Elementary 
and Secondary Schools, 2000 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, OFFICE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS PUBLICATIONS 
Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline, January 2014 
WEB SITES 
CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 
California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 
Public Counsel:  http://www.fixschooldiscipline.org 
U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights:  http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: May 10, 2011 
revised: April 9, 2013 
revised: May 13, 2014 
revised: February 13, 2018 
revised: February 12, 2019 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Students 
AR 5144 
 
DISCIPLINE 
 
Site-Level Rules 
 

Note:  The following section is optional. Pursuant to Education Code 35291.5, schools are authorized, but not 
required, to adopt site-level student discipline rules and procedures. Schools that choose to adopt student discipline 
rules, or that are directed by the Governing Board to do so, must solicit input from groups specified in items #1-5 
below. Such site-level rules must be consistent with law, Board policy, and district regulations.  If the school 
develops student discipline rules, Education Code 32282 requires that they be included in the comprehensive safety 
plan; see BP/AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan. 
In addition, pursuant to Education Code 52060, the district is required to adopt a local control and accountability 
plan (LCAP) that includes a description of the specific actions that it intends to take to achieve its annual goals in 
specified priority areas, including student engagement and school climate. In the development of the LCAP, the 
district is required to involve and/or consult with parents/guardians, employees, employee organizations, and 
students in accordance with law. See BP/AR 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan. 

 
Site-level rules shall be consistent with districtstate law and Board policies and administrative 
regulations.  In developing site-level disciplinary rules, the principal or designee shall solicit the 
participation, views, and advice of one representative selected by each of the following groups:  
(Education Code 35291.5) 
 
1. Parents/guardians 
2. Teachers 
3. School administrators 
4. School security personnel, if any 

(cf. 3515.3 - District Police/Security Department) 
5. For junior high and high schools, students enrolled in the school 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice.  Education Code 35291.5 
authorizes, but does not require, each school site to adopt school rules every four years. However, it is 
recommended that the timelines for the review of school rules be aligned with those for the review and updating 
of the comprehensive safety plan, since the school rules must, by law, be included in the plan.  Pursuant to 
Education Code 32286, the comprehensive safety plan must be reviewed and updated every year by March 1; see 
BP/AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan. 

 
Annually, site-level discipline rules shall be reviewed and, if necessary, updated to align with any 
changes in state law, district discipline policies and regulations, and/or goals for school safety and 
climate as specified in the district's local control and accountability plan.  A copy of the rules shall 
be filed with the Superintendent or designee for inclusion in the comprehensive safety plan. 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
School rules shall be communicated to students clearly and in an age-appropriate manner. 
 
It shall be the duty of each employee of the school to enforce the school rules on student discipline.  
(Education Code 35291.5) 



2 
 
 
Disciplinary Strategies 
 

Note:  Education Code 48900.5 lists means of correction of student behavior that a district may use as an alternative 
to suspension. The district should select those strategies that are appropriate for its student population. The 
following strategies may be modified or expanded to reflect district practice. 

 
To the extent possible, staff shall use disciplinary strategies that keep students in school and 
participating in the instructional program.  Except when a student'sstudents' presence causes a 
danger to himself/herselfthemselves or others or he/she commitsthey commit a single act of a grave 
nature or an offense for which suspension or expulsion is required by law, suspension or expulsion 
shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct.  
Disciplinary strategies may include, but are not limited to: 
 
1. Discussion or conference between school staff and the student and his/her 

parents/guardians 
(cf. 5020 - Parent Rights and Responsibilities) 
(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 

 
2. Referral of the student to the school counselor or other school support service personnel 

for case management and counseling 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 

 
3. Convening of a study team, guidance team, resource panel, or other intervention-related 

team to assess the behavior and develop and implement an individual plan to address the 
behavior in partnership with the student and his/her parents/guardians 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 

 
4. When applicable, referral for a comprehensive psychosocial or psychoeducational 

assessment, including for purposes of creating an individualized education program or a 
Section 504 plan 
(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 
(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education under Section 504) 

 
5. Enrollment in a program for teaching prosocial behavior or anger management 
 
6. Participation in a restorative justice program 
 
7. A positive behavior support approach with tiered interventions that occur during the school 

day on campus 
 
8. Participation in a social and emotional learning program that teaches students the ability to 

understand and manage emotions, develop caring and concern for others, make responsible 
decisions, establish positive relationships, and handle challenging situations capably 

 
Note:  The Public Counsel's Fix School Discipline Project recognizes that exposure to chronic violence and other 
family or community traumas, such as serious accidents and life-threatening illnesses involving loved ones, and 
to conditions such as homelessness, may affect students' ability to learn and function well in school, and urges 
schools to adopt policies that recognize those factors and provide appropriate support to students. 

 
 



3 
 
9. Participation in a program that is sensitive to the traumas experienced by students, focuses 

on students' behavioral health needs, and addresses those needs in a proactive manner 
 
10. After-school programs that address specific behavioral issues or expose students to positive 

activities and behaviors, including, but not limited to, those operated in collaboration with 
local parent and community groups 
(cf. 5148.2 - Before/After School Programs) 

 
11. Recess restriction as provided in the section below entitled "Recess Restriction" 
 
12. Detention after school hours as provided in the section below entitled "Detention After 

School" 
 
13. Community service as provided in the section below entitled "Community Service" 
 
14. In accordance with Board policy and administrative regulation, restriction or 

disqualification from participation in extracurricular activities 
(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular/Cocurricular Activities) 

 
15. Reassignment to an alternative educational environment 

(cf. 6158 - Independent Study) 
(cf. 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice) 
(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education) 
(cf. 6185 - Community Day School) 

 
16. Suspension and expulsion in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative 

regulation 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48900.5, when a student's misbehavior may result in a referral for suspension 
or expulsion after other means of correction have failed, the district may document and place in the student's record 
any other means of correction used to address the behavior.  The following optional paragraph may be revised to 
reflect district practice. 

 
When, by law or district policy, other means of correction are required to be implemented before 
a student could be suspended or expelled, any other means of correction implemented shall be 
documented and retained in the student's records.  (Education Code 48900.5) 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 
Recess Restriction 
 

Note:  The following optional section should be revised to reflect district practice.  Although Education Code 
44807.5 authorizes the district to adopt reasonable regulations allowing a teacher to restrict recess time for 
disciplinary purposes, it is recommended that districts discourage its use since it could limit students' opportunity 
to engage in physical activity which is inconsistent with district goals for student wellness.  Studies have shown 
that, apart from its multiple health benefits, physical activity can help students improve their academic 
performance, attention, and behavior. 

 
Teachers may restrict a student's recess time only when they believe that this action is the most 
effective way to bring about improved behavior. When recess restriction may involveinvolves the 
withholding of physical activity from a student, the teacherteachers shall try other disciplinary 



4 
 
measures before imposing the restriction.  Recess restriction shall be subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
1. The student shall be given adequate time to use the restroom and get a drink or eat lunch, 

as appropriate. 
 
2. The student shall remain under a certificated employee's supervision during the period of 

restriction. 
 
3. The student's teacher shall inform the principal of any recess restrictions imposed. 

(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 
(cf. 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity) 

 
Detention After School 
 
Students may be detained for disciplinary reasons for up to one hour after the close of the 
maximum school day., or until the departure of the school bus to which they have been assigned 
if applicable.  (5 CCR 307, 353) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph should be modified to reflect district practice. 
 
The student shall not be detained unless the principal or designee notifies the parent/guardian. 
 
Students shall remain under the supervision of a certificated employee during the period of 
detention. 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph is offered for districts that use Saturday classes for purposes of detention. 
Education Code 37223 authorizes the use of Saturday classes; however, except in the case of truants, attendance 
at such classes must be at the election of the student, or parent/guardian when the student is a minor. 

 
Students may be offered the choice of serving their detention on Saturday rather than after school. 
(cf. 6176 - Weekend/Saturday Classes) 
 
Community Service 
 
As part of or instead of disciplinary action, the Board, Superintendent, principal, or principal's 
designee may, at his/her discretion, require a student to perform community service during 
nonschool hours on school grounds or, with written permission of the student's parent/guardian, 
off school grounds.  Such service may include, but is not limited to, community or school outdoor 
beautification, community or campus betterment, and teacher, peer, or youth assistance programs.  
(Education Code 48900.6) 
 

Note:  Education Code 48900.6 provides that the community service option is not available for those students who 
have been suspended, pending expulsion, for acts qualifying for either "mandatory recommendation for expulsion" 
or "mandatory expulsion" pursuant to Education Code 48915.  See BP 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due 
Process. 

 
This community service option is not available for a student who has been suspended, pending 
expulsion, pursuant to Education Code 48915.  However, if the recommended expulsion is not 
implemented or the expulsion itself is suspended, then the student may be required to perform 
community service for the resulting suspension.  (Education Code 48900.6) 



5 
 
 
Notice to Parents/Guardians and Students 
 
At the beginning of the school year, the Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians, 
in writing, about the availability of district rules related to discipline. (Education Code 35291, 
48980) 
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall also provide written notice of disciplinary rules to transfer 
students at the time of their enrollment in the district. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation adopted: May 10, 2011 
revised: April 9, 2013 
revised: May 13, 2014 
revised: February 12, 2019 



1 
 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Students 
BP 5146 
 
MARRIED/PREGNANT/PARENTING STUDENTS 
 

Note:  The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Pursuant to Education Code 48410, students may be exempted from compulsory attendance in continuing 
education classes if they must render personal services to a dependent. See AR 5112.1 - Exemptions from 
Attendance. 

 
The Governing Board recognizes that earlyresponsibilities related to marriage, pregnancy, or 
parenting and related responsibilities may disrupt a student's education and increase the chance of 
a student dropping out of school. The Board therefore desires to support married, pregnant, and 
parenting students to continue their education, attain strong academic and parenting skills, and 
promote the healthy development of their children. 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
(cf. 5147 - Dropout Prevention) 
(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 

Note:  Education Code 221.51, as added by AB 2289 (Ch. 942, Statutes of 2018), codifies federal and state 
regulations that prohibit districts from applying any rule concerning a student's actual or potential parental, family, 
or marital status that treats students differently on the basis of sex. 

 
The district shall not discriminate againstexclude or deny any student on the basis of from any 
educational program or activity, including any class or extracurricular activity, solely on the basis 
of the student's marital status, pregnancy, childbirth, false pregnancy, termination of pregnancy, 
or related recovery.  (Education Code In addition, the district shall not adopt any rule concerning 
a student's actual or potential parental, family, or marital status that treats students differently on 
the basis of sex.  (Education Code 221.51, 230; 5 CCR 4950; 34 CFR 106.40) 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 

Note:  Education Code 222.5, as added by AB 2289, requires the following annual notifications. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually notify parents/guardians at the beginning of the 
school year of the rights and options available to pregnant and parenting students under the law. 
In addition, pregnant and parenting students shall be notified of the rights and options available to 
them under the law through annual school year welcome packets and through independent study 
packets.  (Education Code 222.5, 48980) 
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 
 
Note:  Pursuant to Family Code 7002, any person under the age of 18 years who enters into a valid marriage is an 
emancipated minor and therefore has the same rights as an adult. Such rights include, but are not limited to, those 
related to the verification of student absences (see AR 5113 - Absences and Excuses), application for a work permit 
(see AR 5113.2 - Work Permits), and access to student records (see AR 5125 - Student Records). 



2 
 

 
For school-related purposes, a student under the age of 18 years who enters into a valid marriage 
shall have all the rights and privileges of students who are 18 years old, even if the marriage has 
been dissolved.  (Family Code 7002) 
 
Education and Support Services for Pregnant and Parenting Students 
 
Pregnant and parenting students shall retain the right to participate in any comprehensive schoolthe 
regular education program or educationalan alternative education program. The classroom setting 
shall be the preferred instructional strategy unless an alternative is necessary to meet the needs of 
the student and/or his/herthe student's child. 
(cf. 6158 - Independent Study) 
(cf. 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice) 
(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education) 
(cf. 6200 - Adult Education) 
 

Note:  Both federal law (34 CFR 106.40) and state law (Education Code 221.51; 5 CCR 4950) prohibit districts 
from requiring a student to take a course or participate in a separate program or school for pregnant and parenting 
students. When students voluntarily participate in such alternative programs, federal law requires that the 
alternative program be "comparable" to the regular education program, and state law requires that the program be 
"equal" to the regular education program. The following paragraph reflects the state standard which is more 
stringent and thus would prevail. 
 
The California Women's Law Center, in Educational Rights of Pregnant and Parenting Teens:  Title IX and 
California State Law Requirements, describes the difficulty in ensuring that alternative programs are comparable 
or equal to the regular education program, and cites factors that districts should consider. Such factors may include, 
but are not limited to, the educational benefits provided (i.e., quality, range, and content of curriculum and other 
services; quality and availability of instructional materials and technology); extracurricular offerings; staff 
qualifications; geographic accessibility; and the quality, accessibility, and availability of facilities and resources. 
Because of the difficulty in meeting this standard, the California Women's Law Center cautions that districts must 
ensure that pregnant students are not pushed or lured into alternative programs through either overt or subtle 
practices. 

 
Any alternative education program, activity, or course that is offered separately to pregnant or 
parenting students, including any class or extracurricular activity, shall be equal to that offered to 
other district students.  A student's participation in such programs shall be voluntary.  ((Education 
Code 221.51; 5 CCR 4950) 
 

Note:  Education Code 221.51, as added by AB 2289, authorizes districts to require certification by a physician or 
nurse practitioner that a student is physically and emotionally able to participate in the regular education program 
or activity. However, Education Code 221.51 and 34 CFR 106.40 require that pregnancy, childbirth, false 
pregnancy, termination of pregnancy, or related recovery be treated in the same manner as any other temporary 
disabling condition. Thus, the district cannot require a pregnant student to provide a physician's note to participate 
in physical education classes unless required of all students with temporary medical conditions, but a pregnant 
student who cannot accomplish the requirements of the regular physical education curriculum may be offered an 
alternative physical education curriculum. Education Code 48206.3 defines a "temporary disability" as a physical, 
mental, or emotional disability after which the student can reasonably be expected to return to regular day classes 
or an alternative education program; see AR 6183 - Home and Hospital Instruction. 

 
If required for students with any other temporary disabling conditionAs required for other students 
with physical or emotional conditions or temporary disabilities, the Superintendent or designee 
may require a student, based on pregnancy, childbirth, false pregnancy, termination of pregnancy, 



3 
 

or related recovery, to obtain certification from a physician or nurse practitioner indicating that the 
student is physically and emotionally able to participatecontinue participation in an educationalthe 
regular education program or activity.  ((Education Code 221.51; 5 CCR 4950; 34 CFR 106.40) 
(cf. 5131.62 - Tobacco) 
(cf. 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity) 
(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities) 
(cf. 6183 - Home and Hospital Instruction) 
 

Note:  Items #1-7 below are optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
To the extent feasible, the district shall provide educational and related support services, either 
directly or in collaboration with community agencies and organizations, to meet the needs of 
pregnant and parenting students and their children. Such services may include, but are not limited 
to: 
 

Note:  The district may choose to offer child care and development services as an incentive to encourage the school 
attendance of parenting students, as provided in item #1 below. Child care and development services are subject 
to applicable sections of Education Code 8200-8498 and the health and safety requirements of 22 CCR 101151-
101239.2 and 101351-101439.1; see BP/AR 5148 - Child Care and Development. 

 
1. Child care and development services for the children of parenting students on or near 

school site(s) during the school day and during school-sponsored activities 
(cf. 5148 - Child Care and Development) 

 
2. Parenting education and life skills instruction 
 

Note:  The federal Women, Infants, and Children grant program (42 USC 1786; 7 CFR 246.1-246.28) provides 
funding that may be used for special school nutrition supplements for low-income pregnant and lactating students 
as provided in item #3 below; see the U.S. Department of Agriculture's web site. Education Code 49553 specifies 
nutritional standards for these special school nutrition supplements. 

 
3. Special school nutrition supplements for pregnant and lactating students pursuant to 

Education Code 49553, 42 USC 1786, and 7 CFR 246.1-246.28 
(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program) 
(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 

 
4. Health care services, including prenatal care 

(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 
 

Note:  Health and Safety Code 104460 requires districts receiving Tobacco-Use Prevention Education funds to 
provide access to tobacco-use prevention and intervention services to pregnant and parenting students; see AR 
5131.62 - Tobacco. 

 
5. Tobacco, alcohol, and/or drug prevention and intervention services 

(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs); (cf. 5131.62 - Tobacco) 
 
6. Academic and personal counseling 

(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
 



4 
 

7. Supplemental instruction to assist students in achieving grade-level academic standards 
and progressing toward graduation 
(cf. 6179 - Supplemental Instruction) 

 
As appropriate, teachers, administrators, and/or other personnel who work with pregnant and 
parenting students shall receive related professional development. 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development); (cf. 4231 - Staff Development); (cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 
 
Absences 
 
Pregnant or parenting students may be excused for absences related to confidentialfor medical 
appointments and other purposes specified in accordance with BP/AR 5113 - Absences and 
Excuses. 
 

Note:  Education Code 48205, as amended by AB 2289, authorizes an excused absence without a note from a 
physician for a parenting student to care for a sick child. Also see AR 5113 - Absences and Excuses. 

 
A student shall be excused for absences to care for a sick child for whom the student is the custodial 
parent. A note from a physician shall not be required for such an absence.  (Education Code 48205) 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
The Superintendent or designee shall grant a student a leave of absence due to pregnancy, 
childbirth, false pregnancy, termination of pregnancy, and related recovery for as long as it is 
 
Parental Leave 
 

Note:  Education Code 46015, as added by AB 2289, provides that a pregnant or parenting student is entitled to 
eight weeks of parental leave, or longer if deemed medically necessary by the student's physician. Pursuant to 
Education Code 46015, the student's failure to notify the school as required below does not abridge the student's 
rights. 

 
A pregnant or parenting student shall be reinstated to the status held when entitled to eight weeks 
of parental leave in order to protect the health of the student who gives or expects to give birth and 
the infant, and to allow the pregnant or parenting student to care for and bond with the infant. Such 
leave began.  (may be taken before the birth of the student's infant if there is a medical necessity 
and after childbirth during the school year in which the birth takes place, inclusive of any 
mandatory summer instruction. The Superintendent or designee may grant parental leave beyond 
eight weeks if deemed medically necessary by the student's physician.  (Education Code 46015; 
34 CFR 106.40) 
 
The student, if age 18 years or older, or the student's parent/guardian shall notify the school of the 
student's intent to take parental leave. No student shall be required to take all or part of the parental 
leave.  (Education Code 46015) 
 
When a student takes parental leave, the attendance supervisor shall ensure that absences from the 
regular school program are excused until the student is able to return to the regular school program 
or an alternative education program. A pregnant or parenting student shall not be required to 
complete academic work or other school requirements during the period of the parental leave.  
(Education Code 46015) 
(cf. 5113.11 - Attendance Supervision) 



5 
 

 
Following the leave, a pregnant or parenting student may elect to return to the school and the 
course of study in which the student was enrolled before taking parental leave or to an alternative 
education option provided by the district. Upon return to school, a pregnant or parenting student 
shall have opportunities to make up work missed during the leave, including, but not limited to, 
makeup work plans and reenrollment in courses.  (Education Code 46015) 
 
When necessary to complete high school graduation requirements, the student may remain enrolled 
in school for a fifth year of instruction, unless the Superintendent or designee makes a finding that 
the student is reasonably able to complete district graduation requirements in time to graduate by 
the end of the fourth year of high school.  (Education Code 46015) 
(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 
(cf. 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation) 
(cf. 6146.2 - Certificate of Proficiency/High School Equivalency) 
 
Accommodations 
 

Note:  According to the U.S. Department of Education (USDOE) pamphlet Supporting the Academic Success of 
Pregnant and Parenting Students under Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, when necessary to ensure 
a pregnant student's access to the educational program, the district must make adjustments to the regular program 
that are reasonable and responsive to the student's pregnancy status. Examples in the USDOE pamphlet include 
providing a larger desk, allowing frequent trips to the restroom, or permitting temporary access to elevators as 
necessary. Pursuant to 34 CFR 106.40, the school also must provide any services to pregnant students that it 
provides to other students with temporary medical conditions, such as at-home instruction or tutoring for students 
who miss school because of such medical conditions. The USDOE publication lists additional programs and 
strategies that, although not required by federal law, may assist in addressing the needs of pregnant and parenting 
students. 

 
When necessary, the district shall provide accommodations to pregnant and parenting students to 
enable thema pregnant or parenting student to access the educational program. 
 
A pregnant student shall have access to any services available to other students with temporary 
disabilities or medical conditions.  (34 CFR 106.40) 
 
The school shall provide reasonable accommodations to any lactating student to express breast 
milk, breastfeed an infant child, or address other needs related to breastfeeding. A student shall 
not incur an academic penalty for using any of these reasonable accommodations, and shall be 
provided the opportunity to make up any work missed due to such use. Reasonable 
accommodations include, but are not limited to:  (Education Code 222) 
 
1. Access to a private and secure room, other than a restroom, to express breast milk or 

breastfeed an infant child 
 
2. Permission to bring onto a school campus a breast pump and any other equipment used to 

express breast milk 
 
3. Access to a power source for a breast pump or any other equipment used to express breast 

milk 



6 
 

 
4. Access to a place to store expressed breast milk safely 
 
5. A reasonable amount of time to accommodate the student's need to express breast milk or 

breastfeed an infant child 
 
Complaints 
 

Note:  Education Code 46015, as added by AB 2289, authorizes the use of the district's uniform complaint 
procedures established pursuant to 5 CCR 4600-4670 for complaints alleging the district's noncompliance with 
requirements related to the provision of parental leave or other requirements of Education Code 46015. 

 
Any complaint ofalleging discrimination on the basis of pregnancy or marital or parental status, 
district noncompliance with the requirements of Education Code 46015, or district noncompliance 
with the requirement to provide reasonable accommodations for lactating students shall be 
addressed through the district's uniform complaint procedures in accordance with 5 CCR 4600-
46874670 and BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures.Any complaint alleging district 
noncompliance with the requirements to provide reasonable accommodations for lactating students 
also may be filed in accordance with the district's procedures in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint 
Procedures. A complainant who is not satisfied with the district's decision may appeal the decision 
to the California Department of Education (CDE). If the district or the CDE finds merit in an 
appeal, the district shall provide a remedy to the affected student.  (Education Code 222, 46015; 5 
CCR 4600-4687 4670) 
(cf. 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures) 
 
Program Evaluation 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically report to the Board regarding the effectiveness 
of district strategies to support married, pregnant, and parenting students, which may include data 
on student participation rates in district programs and services, academic achievement, school 
attendance, graduation rate, and/or student feedback on district programs and services. 
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 
(cf. 6162.5 - Student Assessment) 
(cf. 6190 - Evaluation of the Instructional Program) 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
221.51  Nondiscrimination; married, pregnant, and parenting students 
222  Reasonable accommodations; lactating students 
222.5  Pregnant and parenting students, notification of rights 
230  Sex discrimination 
8200-8498  Child Care and Development Services Act 
46015  Parental leave 
48205  Excused absences 
48206.3  Temporary disability, definition 
48220  Compulsory education requirement 
48410  Persons exempted from continuation classes 
48980  Parental notifications 
49553  Nutrition supplements for pregnant/lactating students 



7 
 

51220.5  Parenting skills and education 
51745  Independent study 
52610.5  Enrollment of pregnant and parenting students in adult education 
CIVIL CODE 
51  Unruh Civil Rights Act 
FAMILY CODE 
7002  Description of emancipated minor 
HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE 
104460  Tobacco prevention services for pregnant and parenting students 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 
4600-46874670  Uniform complaint procedures 
4950  Nondiscrimination, marital and parental status 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 22 
101151-101239.2  General licensing requirements for child care centers 
101351-101439.1  Infant care centers 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 
1681-1688  Title IX, Education Act Amendments 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 
1786  Special supplemental nutrition program for women, infants, and children 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 7 
246.1-246.28  Special supplemental nutrition program for women, infants, and children 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 34 
106.40   Marital or parental status 
ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINIONS 
87 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 168 (2004) 
COURT DECISIONS 
American Academy of Pediatrics et al v. Lungren et al (1997) 16 Cal.4th 307 

Management Resources: 
CALIFORNIA WOMEN'S LAW CENTER PUBLICATIONS 
Pregnant Students and Confidential Medical Services, 2013 
Educational Rights of Pregnant and Parenting Teens:  Title IX and California State Law Requirements, 
2012 
The Civil Rights of Pregnant and Parenting Teens in California Schools, 2002 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Supporting the Academic Success of Pregnant and Parenting Students under Title IX of the Education 
Amendments of 1972, rev. June 2013 
WEB SITES 
California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 
California Women's Law Center:  http://www.cwlc.org/resources 
U.S. Department of Agriculture, Women, Infants, and Children Program:  http://www.fns.usda.gov/wic 
U.S. Department of Education:  http://www.ed.gov 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: June 14, 2011 
revised: March 11, 2014 
revised: May 10, 2016 
revised: February 12, 2019 


	01_2019-02-12_SCOE_Agenda
	02_SCOE - Hat Creek Memo
	03_Amy Filippini_resignation 1-22-19
	04_SCOE JAN2019 OBJSUMM
	Account Object Summary-Balance
	1
	1
	01
	
	
	
	5
	1000
	2000
	3000
	4000
	5000
	6000
	7000





	11
	
	
	
	5
	1000
	3000
	4000
	5000
	6000
	7000





	16
	
	
	
	5
	7000









	05_01-08-2019_SCOE_Minutes
	06_SCOE JAN2019 CHECKS
	Board Report
	1
	00015111
	00015112
	00015113
	00015114
	00015115
	00015116
	00015117
	00015118
	00015119
	00015120
	00015121
	00015122
	00015123
	00015124
	00015125
	00015126
	00015127
	00015128
	00015129
	00015130
	00015131
	00015132
	00015133
	00015134
	00015135
	00015136
	00015137
	00015138
	00015139
	00015140
	00015141
	00015142
	00015143
	00015144

	2
	01
	11
	76



	07_Consolidated App_SCOE_02-2019
	08_AB 1200_SPTA_2018-19_SCOE
	09_Tentative Agreement_2018-19_SPTA
	10_2018_School_Accountability_Report_Card_(CDE)_Sierra_County_Office_of_Education_20190129
	About This School
	Contact Information (School Year 2018-19)
	School Description and Mission Statement (School Year 2018-19)

	A. Conditions of Learning
	State Priority: Basic
	Teacher Credentials
	Teacher Misassignments and Vacant Teacher Positions
	Quality, Currency, Availability of Textbooks and Instructional Materials (School Year 2018-19)
	School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements (Most Recent Year)
	School Facility Good Repair Status (Most Recent Year)
	Overall Facility Rating (Most Recent Year)


	B. Pupil Outcomes
	State Priority: Pupil Achievement
	CAASPP Test Results in English Language Arts/Literacy (ELA) and Mathematics for All Students
	Grades Three through Eight and Grade Eleven
	CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group
	Grades Three through Eight and Grade Eleven (School Year 2017-18)
	CAASPP Test Results in Mathematics by Student Group
	Grades Three through Eight and Grade Eleven (School Year 2017-18)
	CAASPP Test Results in Science for All Students
	Grades Five, Eight, and Ten
	Career Technical Education Programs (School Year 2017-18)
	Career Technical Education Participation (School Year 2017-18)
	Courses for University of California (UC) and/or California State University (CSU) Admission

	State Priority: Other Pupil Outcomes

	C. Engagement
	State Priority: Parental Involvement
	Opportunities for Parental Involvement (School Year 2018-19)

	State Priority: Pupil Engagement
	Dropout Rate and Graduation Rate (Four-Year Cohort Rate)

	State Priority: School Climate
	Suspensions and Expulsions
	School Safety Plan (School Year 2018-19)


	D. Other SARC Information
	Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Secondary)
	Academic Counselors and Other Support Staff (School Year 2017-18)
	Expenditures per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries (Fiscal Year 2016-17)
	Types of Services Funded (Fiscal Year 2017-18)
	Teacher and Administrative Salaries (Fiscal Year 2016-17)
	Advanced Placement (AP) Courses (School Year 2017-18)
	Professional Development (Most Recent Three Years)


	11_Policies for 02-12-19
	02-19 Guidesheet--BOARD PACKET
	3311.1~AR_Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Procedures_RED_New Reg
	3543~AR_Transportation Safety and Emergencies_RED
	5113~AR_Absences and Excuses_RED
	5131.41~AR_Use of Seclusion and Restraint_RED_New Reg
	5141.52_BP_Suicide Prevention_RED
	5141.52~AR_Suicide Prevention_RED
	5144_BP_Discipline_RED
	5144~AR_Discipline_RED
	5146_BP_Married~Pregnant~Parenting Students_RED


